

Doctoral Thesis No. 2021:16 Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science

Physiological and behavioural responses to fear and discomfort in dogs and goats

LOUISE WINBLAD VON WALTER



Physiological and behavioural responses to fear and discomfort in dogs and goats

Louise Winblad von Walter

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry Uppsala



DOCTORAL THESIS Uppsala 2021 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2021:16

Cover: A goat with her two kids and a beautiful Collie Photo: Lena Holm

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-710-6 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-711-3 © 2021 Louise Winblad von Walter, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2021

Physiological and behavioural responses to fear and discomfort in dogs and goats

Abstract

Animal welfare is an issue of great public and scientific interest. In this thesis, physiological and behavioural methods were used to evaluate fear and discomfort in two different species; dogs and goats. In the first study, fear of gun shots and different floor surfaces was investigated in collie dogs. Dogs that were fearful of floors had higher heart rates than dogs that were less fearful. Dogs fearful of gunshots had higher heart rates, haematocrit and plasma concentrations of cortisol, progesterone, vasopressin and β -endorphin, than less fearful dogs, which demonstrates that fear of gunshots is a serious stressor. In the second study, it was shown that housing and company of other animals affects arterial blood pressure, heart rate, and the concentrations of β -endorphin and oxytocin in goats. However, cortisol and vasopressin concentrations did not differ between goats that were tethered respectively loosely housed in pairs. In the dairy industry, the permanent early separation of mother and offspring is of great concern. In the third study, we found no changes in heart rate, arterial blood pressure or plasma concentrations of cortisol, β-endorphin, oxytocin and vasopressin in goats after separation. However, both goats and kids vocalised intensively. In the fourth and fifth studies, kids were either permanently separated, daily separated, or kept full-time with mothers, and were subjected to an isolation test with a dog bark at two weeks and two months of age, and an arena test with a suddenly appearing novel object at two months of age. All kids had similar growth rates. Kids kept with their mothers showed more hiding behaviours at two weeks, and early separated kids were more active with another kid. Early separated kids also deviated most in the isolation test at two weeks by reducing their vocalisation earlier and having a higher heart rate before and after dog barking, and at two months by having higher heart rate throughout the test. Daily separated kids bleated comparatively more at two weeks, decreased their heart rate after dog bark and showed the strongest fear reaction in the arena test at two months. In conclusion, it is important to measure several different physiological and behavioural parameters when assessing animal welfare.

Key words: behaviour, canine, caprine, cortisol, dog, fear, goat, heart rate, rearing system, separation, welfare

Author's address: Louise Winblad von Walter, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Uppsala, Sweden

Fysiologiska och etologiska mått på rädsla och obehag hos get och hund

Abstract

I denna avhandling användes fysiologiska och etologiska metoder för att utvärdera rädsla och obehag hos två olika arter; hund och get. I den första studien undersöktes golv- och skotträdsla hos hundar av rasen collie. Golvrädda hundar hade högre hjärtfrekvens än hundar som inte var rädda. Skotträdda hundar hade högre hjärtfrekvens, hematokrit och plasmakoncentrationer av kortisol, progesteron, vasopressin och β -endorfin än hundar som inte visade skotträdsla, vilket visar att skotträdda hundar utsätts för stark stress. I den andra studien visades att inhysningssystem och social kontakt med andra getter påverkar arteriellt blodtryck, hjärtfrekvens och koncentrationerna av β-endorfin och oxytocin hos getter. Plasmakoncentrationerna av kortisol och vasopressin skilde sig däremot inte mellan uppbundna getter och lösgående getter i par. Inom intensiv mjölkproduktion separeras vanligen get och killing tidigt. I den tredje studien fann vi inga förändringar i hjärtfrekvens, arteriellt blodtryck eller plasmakoncentrationer av kortisol, β -endorfin, oxytocin och vasopressin hos getter efter separation. Dock vokaliserade både getter och killingar intensivt. I den fjärde och femte studien studerades killingar som föddes upp i tre olika system; separerade från mamman, separerade dagtid men tillsammans med mamman under natten, eller tillsammans med mamman dygnet runt. Vid två veckors och två månaders ålder utfördes ett isoleringstest med ett hundskall och vid två månaders ålder även ett arenatest med ett okänt objekt. Tillväxten var lika i alla behandlingar. De killingar som gick med sina mammor visade mer gömmarbeteende vid två veckors ålder. De killingar som var permanent separerade från sina mammor var mest aktiva tillsammans med andra killingar. Dessa killingar avvek mest från de andra behandlingarna genom att vokaliseringsfrekvensen minskade tidigare under isoleringstestet vid två veckors ålder, hjärtfrekvensen var högre före och efter hundskallet vid två veckors ålder, samt under hela testet vid två månaders ålder. De killingar som separerades dagligen vokaliserade mer vid två veckor, hjärtfrekvensen minskade efter hundskallet och de visade den starkaste rädslereaktionen under arenatestet vid två månader. Sammanfattningsvis är det viktigt att mäta flera olika fysiologiska och etologiska parametrar vid bedömning av djurvälfärd.

Keywords: beteende, djurvälfärd, get, hjärfrekvens, hund, kortisol, rädsla, separation

Author's address: Louise Winblad von Walter, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Uppsala, Sweden

Preface



It started with a dog, Mollie. She was afraid of gun shots, and I was an ambitious dog owner that wished to participate in competitions. So, I trained and trained my dog to ignore gun shots. Finally, when we managed to pass the test that included gun shots, and the assessor said to me: "You can tell she is not afraid at all. It's not possible to train a dog to hide her fear."

Well, as all dog-nerds know, it's quite possible to train a dog to cope with frightening situations.

But what is going on inside an animal, invisible from the outside? My curiosity was aroused. Twenty years later, this thesis is complete. So, what happened? Well, life happened.

I had four beautiful children. When the youngest was three years old, in 2010, I defended my licentiate thesis. The idea was to complete my PhD thesis shortly after. But four lovely kids, and a great full-time job, with focus on welfare in dairy cattle, proved a handful. But it also gave me experience and practical knowledge about welfare issues in dairy production.

And now, thanks to my amazing supervisors who never gave up on me, this thesis is complete. And you know what? The subject of these studies has only grown more topical.

Dedication

To my kids Hampus, Frida, Sofia and Fabian, I love you.

To my dear late friend, Annika, who passed away too early. Annika, despite her belief in veganism, encouraged me to finish this thesis. We agreed that different roads may lead to improved animal welfare. I miss you.

"Rivers know this: there is no hurry. We shall get there some day" Winnie-the-Pooh \sim A.A. Milne

Contents

List c	of publ	ication	S	13			
1.	Introduction						
	1.1	Animal welfare					
	1.2	Measuring animal welfare					
	1.3	Dogs and goats					
	1.4	Fear a	nd discomfort	18			
		1.4.1	Dogs' fear of noises and surfaces	19			
		1.4.2	Aversive events in goats	19			
	1.5	Fear and discomfort: physiological and behavioural responses .20					
		1.5.1	The autonomic nervous system	21			
		1.5.2	The hypothalamus-anterior pituitary-adrenal-axis	21			
		1.5.3	Hypothalamus-anterior pituitary: β-endorphin	23			
		1.5.4	Hypothalamus-posterior pituitary: Vasopressin	and			
		Oxytoo	sin	23			
		1.5.5	Behaviours related to fear and discomfort	25			
	1.6	Early s	separation: effect on milk production and growth	25			
2.	Aims	of the	thesis	27			
3.	Нурс	othesis		29			
4.	Materials and methods						
	4.1	Animals					
		4.1.1	Dogs (Paper I)	31			
		4.1.2	Goats and kids (Paper II-IV)	31			
	4.2	Experimental procedures					
		4.2.1	Dogs: Floor test and gunshot test (Paper I)	32			
		4.2.2	Goats: Tethered alone vs loose-housed in pairs (Pap 33	oer II)			
		4.2.3	Goats: Suckling and permanent separation (Paper III))33			
		4.2.4	Kids: Effect on kids of mother goat presence (Paper 34	IV-V)			

	4.3	Aspects of materials and methods						
		4.3.1	Methods for physiological measures					
		4.3.2	Methods for behavioural measures					
		4.3.3	Methods for production measures	40				
5.	Main results							
	5.1	Fear p	rovocation in dogs (paper I)	41				
	5.2	Complex stress reaction in goats (paper II and III)						
	5.3	Effects of Suckling in goats (paper III)						
	5.4	Milk yi	ull-time or					
	with daily separated kids (paper IV)							
	5.5	The effect of mother goat presence on kids growth and home-pe						
	beha	viour (pa	aper IV)	43				
	5.6	The e	ffect of mother goat presence on their kids res	ponse to				
	isolat	isolation and an arena test (paper V)4						
		5.6.1	Reunion after isolation (unpublished results)	44				
	5.7	Furthe	r observations (unpublished results)	46				
		5.7.1	Individual differences	46				
		5.7.2	Gender differences	47				
	5.8	Metho	48					
6.	Gen	eneral discussion						
	6.1	Discus	sion of main results	53				
		6.1.1	Fearfulness in dogs	54				
		6.1.2	Stress and discomfort in goats	56				
		6.1.3	Responses to aversive practices or experiences .	59				
		6.1.4	Production measures	61				
		6.1.5	Effects of suckling in goats	63				
		6.1.6	Individual differences	63				
		6.1.7	Gender differences	64				
		6.1.8	Welfare implications	65				
7.	Con	clusion	S	67				
Refe	erence	s		69				
Pop	ular so	cience s	summary	87				

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	93
Acknowledgements	97

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- E. Hydbring- Sandberg, L. Winblad von Walter, K. Höglund, K. Svartberg, L. Swenson and B. Forkman (2004). Physiological reactions to fear provocations in dogs. *Journal of Endocrinology* 180, 439-448.
- II. E Hydbring-Sandberg*, L Winblad von Walter and B Forkman. (2021). Cortisol is not enough - complex stress reaction in tethered goats. Submitted.
- III. L. Winblad von Walter, L. Lidfors, A. Madej, K. Dahlborn, E. Hydbring-Sandberg (2010). Cardiovascular, endocrine and behavioural responses to suckling and permanent separation in goats. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 52 (51).
- IV. M. Högberg, L. Winblad von Walter, E. Hydbring-Sandberg, B. Forkman, and K. Dahlborn*. (2021). Growth rate and behaviour in early, daily or not separated kids and the corresponding milk production of their goats. Submitted.
- V. L. Winblad von Walter*, B. Forkman, M. Högberg, E. Hydbring-Sandberg (2021). The effect of mother goat presence during rearing on kids response to isolation and to an arena test. Submitted.

Papers I-V are reproduced with the kind permission of the publishers and from the journals submitted to.

The contribution of Louise Winblad von Walter to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I. Shared responsibility for design of the study, took part in all data acquisition, shared responsibility for data analysis, shared responsibility with first author for summarising results and writing and critically revising the article with input from co-authors.
- II. Shared responsibility for design of the study, took part in data acquisition, shared responsibility for data analysis, shared responsibility with first author for summarising results and writing.
- III. Shared responsibility for design of the study, took part in all data acquisition, shared responsibility for data analysis. Main responsibility for writing and critically revising the article with input from co-authors.
- IV. Shared responsibility for design of the study, took part in all data acquisition, responsible for behavioral analysis.
- V. Shared responsibility for design of the study, took part in all data acquisition, main responsibility for data analysis. Main responsibility for writing and critically revising the article with input from co-authors.

1. Introduction

1.1 Animal welfare

Animal welfare is an issue of great interest among consumers, petowners, producers, and professionals, but is often affected by a polarised debate. Although scientific studies have contributed to the development of valuable improvements to the housing, management and care of animals dependent on humans, there remain many issues of concern, such as for example excessive fear in pet dogs, and aversive management procedures in livestock, e.g., early permanent separation of mothers from offspring.

Already in the Sixties, the Brambell Report (Brambell & Barbour, 1965) stated that animals should have the freedom to "to stand up, lie down, turn around, groom themselves, and stretch their limbs." These were referred to as 'Brambells' Five Freedoms' and the report also stressed that, "welfare is a wide term that embraces both physical and mental well-being of the animal". Just over a decade later, in 1979, the Farm Animal Welfare Committee (FAWC, 1979) presented the 'five freedoms' that are widespread around the world: freedom from hunger and thirst, discomfort, pain, injury and disease, fear and distress. Hence, the Brambell report was highly influential on the European regulations to protect farm animals (Veissier et al., 2008). Two decades later, in 2002, the World organisation for animal health (OIE) presented a resolution on animal welfare, and at presence it is stated that "animal welfare means the physical and mental state of an animal in relation to the conditions in which it lives and dies", (OIE, 2019). The increasing concern and interest in animal welfare has resulted in a vast research considering different aspects of animal welfare to date. However, according to Fraser (2008) different concepts of the bases for animal welfare influence the interpretation of animal welfare in a given situation (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Three different views of animal welfare, adapted from Fraser, 2008. One prioritises the animal's health and freedom from pain, another the animal's happiness or distress, and the third the animal's ability to live a natural life within the system where it is kept. The different starting points imply that different individuals can judge the same situation to be good or bad for an animal's welfare.

Another influential definition of animal welfare is the one by Broom (1996): "The welfare of an individual is its state as regards to its attempts to cope with its environment". In the current thesis I will mainly focus on the view of animal welfare that emphasises how individuals perceive their environment (Duncan 1993; Veissier & Boissy 2007).

1.2 Measuring animal welfare

To define animal welfare as individual experience is an intuitively appealing thought, but is it possible to measure an animal's subjective feelings? Animal welfare has commonly been evaluated by focussing on the resources available, e.g. stocking density or access to food. An alternative approach that is becoming more common is to use animal based measures, both in science and in practical animal welfare assessment systems (EFSA, 2012). In the Welfare Quality system, principally animal-based measures are used to assess animal welfare on farm. The identified main principles of welfare are good feeding, good housing, good health, and appropriate behaviour, all considered to affect the probability of a good experience for the animal (Botreau *et al.*, 2009). In a similar way Mellor (2020) has constructed the 'five domains model' that is based on the four principles, or domains, of nutrition, physical environment, health, and behavioural interactions. These four together constitute the fifth domain, that of mental state. As can be seen from the above, many researchers in animal welfare of today argue that feelings are a central part of animal welfare.

Feelings are subjective experiences and not possible to measure directly, but by combining physiology and behaviour, we can get a little closer. Simultaneous measurements of behavioural and physiological parameters aim at improving our understanding of the reactions of animals to different situations. In this thesis, we have combined behavioural and physiological methods to study two aspects of animal welfare, fear and discomfort, in two completely different species, the dog and the goat.

1.3 Dogs and goats

Dogs are predators and predominantly carnivores, used in many areas of society today: as companions, in sport, as rescue, police, or military dogs, and, not least, to aid disabled individuals. This put great demands on the dogs' mental health. Dogs of many breeds are however so fearful of noises, or unfamiliar individuals and environments, that they cannot cope with the demands of today's society. In addition, fearfulness may develop into aggressive behaviour if the dog is cornered or trapped. Frightened dogs with no possibility to escape, i.e. perfom a flight response, try to defend themselves, i.e. switch to a fight response. This is important to consider in breeding for mentally stable dogs that function in modern society.

Goats are abundant over the world, especially in the developing countries were three-quarters of the 700 million domestic goats are found (Dwyer, 2017). Hence, goats are important for both meat and milk production. Goats are usually kept as production animals and not companion animals. An understanding of how they react to fear or pain is important, not only to be able to recognize them and thus prevent them, but also to facilitate the handling in production

Goats are active and highly social animals (Dwyer, 2017; Zobel *et al.*, 2019). They establish a strong and exclusive bond between goat and kid

immediately after parturition (Collias, 1956; Klopfer, 1971; Poindron *et al.*, 2003; Poindron *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b; Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010). Therefore, management procedures that lead to behavioural restrictions, disrupt social contacts between flock mates, or disrupt the bond between mother and young, may affect the welfare of the goats.

1.4 Fear and discomfort

Fear, an internal emotional state, is a reaction caused by the perception of actual danger (Gray, 1987; Boissy, 1995; Forkman et al. 2007; Sherman & Mills, 2008). Fear is caused by threatening stimuli and functions as the link between the stimuli and patterns of behaviour and physiology (Adolphs 2013). When an individual perceives danger or a threat, physiological reactions and behavioural responses are activated (Sherman & Mills, 2008), mediated by the amygdala in the brain (Adolphs, 2013) and may end with the so-called 'fight or flight' (Cannon, 1929; Steimer, 2002) or freezing reaction (Steimer, 2002). Hence, behavioural responses to fear vary and consist of both active and passive strategies: active defence (attack, threat) or active avoidance (flight, hiding, escape) and passive avoidance (immobility) (Erhard & Mendl 1999). Fear is a highly adaptive, selfprotective response, helping the individual to cope with a challenging environment by organising the behavioural response to a truly dangerous situation (Panksepp, 1998; Koolhaas et al., 1999; Steimer, 2002; Adolphs. 2013; Lloyd, 2017). However, an animal that is frequently subjected to fear, with no possibility to escape, will suffer from stress (Lloyd, 2017), and may develop behavioural problems (King et al., 2003) impairing the long-term health of the animal (Koolhaas, et al., 1999).

Discomfort is an expression for mental and/or physical unease. In the five freedoms, it is stated that an animal should be provided with an appropriate environment and shelter to be free from discomfort. Discomfort can be experienced for example by lame cows (O'Callaghan *et al.* 2003), during heat stress in cattle (Mandal *et al.*, 2021) or when subjected to management procedures as for example accumulation of milk in the udder due to dry-off (Rajala-Schultz., *et al* 2018).

1.4.1 Dogs' fear of noises and surfaces

In dogs, fear-related behaviour is a common problem (Wells & Hepper, 2000; Gähwiler *et al.*, 2020; Hakanen *et al.*, 2020). Fearfulness is reported to be the most common cause for failing behavioural tests among shelter dogs (Poulsen *et al.*, 2010) and fear of noises is highly prevalent in pet dogs (Engel *et al.*, 2019; Riemer, 2019; Gähwiler *et al.*, 2020; Hakanen *et al.*, 2020). In a modern society, there are several fear-eliciting situations to which dogs may not be adapted, e.g., loud noises such as fireworks or gunshots. Fear of gunshots is reported to be the third-most common noise aversion, after fireworks and thunderstorms (Sherman & Mills 2008). This type of fear can cause problems for dog owners and can also be a severe welfare problem for affected dogs.

Another problem for dogs, but not as well known, is fear of walking on different types of flooring. To our knowledge, this phenomenon was not studied before our study (Paper I). However, in a recent study, Hakanen *et al.*, (2020), identified fear of surfaces and heights as multifactorial, and the rough collie as one of the breeds with the highest incidence of this type of fear.

1.4.2 Aversive events in goats

Tethering

In general, goats are kept in extensive systems (Dwyer, 2017) or housed in large open barns (Zobel *et al.*, 2019). Tethering of goats occur in about five percent of dairy goat herds in Sweden, but in 45-50% of dairy cattle herds (Jordbruksverket, 2019). Goats are social and active animals with high cognitive functions (Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010). Tethering of goats implies considerable behavioural restrictions, and is in conflict with their behaviour in a natural habitat. Therefore, in this thesis, we studied several physiological variables during tethering vs. loose housing in the same goats.

Mother and young separation

Goats are generally considered as hiders, i.e., after the initial few hours of caring for a new-born kid, the mother goat rejoins the herd to forage, only returning to nurse (Lickliter, 1984; O'Brien, 1984). However, strategies vary among different goat populations depending on habitat and other factors

(O'Brien, 1988). In free living goats, kids may stay with their mothers for up to twelve months (Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010). However, in today's dairy production, early mother and kid separation is the most common management practice, intended to achieve maximum milk yield for commercial production (Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010; Lu & Potchoiba, 1988). This procedure can be considered aversive and stressful for both goats and kids (Boivin & Braastad, 1996; Bergamasco *et al.*, 2005; Newberry & Swanson 2008; Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010; Winblad von Walter *et al.*, 2010) since it involves disruption of the mutual bond between goats and kids, and is therefore often considered a welfare problem. However, little is known about how it affects the development of different traits such as, for example, fear. Therefore, the effects of early separation on physiology and behaviour were studied in this thesis.

Social isolation

The social group is important for survival in providing protection from predators and help in caring for the young, as well as assistance in finding food (Dwyer, 2017). Therefore, it's highly relevant for goats to react adversely when isolated from conspecifics, and isolation is considered a highly negative event for goats (Carbonaro *et al.*, 1992; Al-Qarawi & Ali 2005; Forkman *et al.*, 2007; Siebert *et al.*, 2011; Chojnacki *et al.*, 2014). In this thesis, we tested both social isolation and performed an arena test (with an added startle effect), which also contains the component isolation but with a larger area than in the isolation test.

1.5 Fear and discomfort: physiological and behavioural responses

All species have developed certain behavioural strategies for survival, but while there is a large diversity in behaviours between species, the physiological reactions are more conserved even across a range of species.

The nervous system and the endocrine system of the individual interact in response to different situations with the aim of maintaining homeostasis. When an individual experiences excitement, fear, or stress, the brain receives information both from the body and from the environment. The limbic system and hypothalamus are structures in the brain involved in emotions and motivations. The hypothalamus is located in the middle, basal part of the brain, and controls and coordinates the autonomic nervous system, the endocrine system, and the behaviour of the individual (Figure 2).

1.5.1 The autonomic nervous system

The hypothalamus responds to physical and emotional challenges by activating the autonomic nervous system, which concist of the sympathetic nervous system and the parasympatethic nervous. In stress situations, the sympathetic nervous system tends to become activated, which for example leads to release of adrenaline and noradrenaline from the adrenal medulla. Noradrenaline and adrenaline are also transmitter substances in the postganglionic sympathetic neurons. Sympathetic activation prepares the individual for fight, flight, and fright, i.e., increases arterial blood pressure, heart rate, blood flow to the muscles, cellular metabolism, blood glucose levels, glycolysis, muscle strength, mental activity and blood coagulation. In addition, activation of the sympathetic nervous system may in some species, such as dogs (Reeve et al., 1953) and goats (Eriksson et al., 1994), stimulate the spleen to contract and thus release erythrocytes into the blood, This is measured as haematocrit, e.g. percent erythrocytes of the total blood. The parasympathetic nervous system (PNS) has an effect opposite to the sympathetic stimulation, e.g., decreases heart rate and stimulates the digestion. But the PNS is also involved in passive behavioural responses to fear, e.g., immobility and freezing. The hypothalamus can alter the activation of the two systems rapidly depending upon the situation.

In earlier studies in goats, basal values of heart rate and blood pressure have been recorded telemetrically during different reproductive periods and feeding (Hydbring *et al.*, 1999) as well as during blood sampling (Hydbring *et al.*, 1997). The results showed that heart rate, but not always blood pressure, varies considerably according to management routines. Heart rate is also reported to be affected according to positive anticipation (Boissy *et al.*, 2007).

1.5.2 The hypothalamus-anterior pituitary-adrenal-axis

The hypothalamus also controls the endocrine system and the pituitary gland and releases corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH) to the anterior pituitary. The anterior pituitary stimulates release of adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) which in turn stimulates the adrenal cortex to release steroid hormones such as glucocorticoids, mineral corticoids and androgens.

Cortisol

One of the main effects of cortisol is to make energy available in challenging situations by mobilizing protein, fat and glucose. Cortisol stimulates gluconeogenesis which make glucose available. In addition, cortisol has important anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive functions. The major part of circulating cortisol in the blood is bound to corticosteroid-binding globulin (CBG) and some to albumin, and only small quantities are in the biologically active free form (Sjaastad *et al.*, 2016). Cortisol is a commonly used stress parameter in many species, and is released during both physical activity and mental alertness

In dogs, the cortisol concentration is for example reported to increase in dogs trained with aversive-based methods compared to reward-based methods, and in dogs entering a pet-hotel (Vieira de Castro *et al.*, 2020) and as a response to transportation (Bergeron *et al.*, 2002; Frank *et al.*, 2006; Herbel *et al.*, 2020). Reduced cortisol levels in dogs is also reported to be linked to play and exploratory behavior (Rossi *et al.*, 2018), human interaction (Shiverdecker *et al.*, 2013) and petting in shelter dogs (Hennessy *et al.*, 1998; Dudley *et al.*, 2015) .

In goats, cortisol is widely used, and has been measured in such different situations as for example isolation (Kannan *et al.*, 2002; Al-Qarawi & Ali, 2005), parturition (Hydbring *et al.*, 1999), transportation (Sanhouri *et al.*, 1989; Greenwood & Shutt, 1992; Kannan *et al.*, 2000; Ali *et al.*, 2006) restraint (Al-Qarawi & Ali, 2005), stomach intubation and fluid administration (Eriksson *et al.*, 1994), disbudding (and food deprivation as well as catching sight of food (Olsson *et al.*, 1995). Cortisol is essential to milk synthesis (Bomfim *et al.*, 2018) and released in conjunction with milking in goats (Olsson & Högberg, 2009; Högberg *et al.*, 2014).

Progesterone and testosterone

Progesterone is a reproductive hormone primarily released from the ovaries and transported in blood plasma bound to proteins. However, progesterone has been reported to be secreted from the adrenal in male rats (Schaeffer & Aron, 1987) and humans (Elman & Breier 1997; Wirth *et al.*, 2007) but also in ovariohysterectomised cats (Chatdarong *et al.*, 2006) and ovariohysterectomised cows (Yoshida & Nakao, 2005). The administration of ACTH to ovariohysterectomised gilts resulted in the elevation of cortisol, progesterone, and prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ metabolite levels (Mwanza *et al.*, 2000), which indicates that cortisol and progesterone may be released at the same time from the adrenal cortex.

Testosterone is mainly produced in the testes and is necessary for spermatogenesis and male characteristics. However, testosterone may also be released from the adrenal cortex in both sexes (Sjaastad, 2016). Testosterone has been reported to be connected to aggression and physical activity (Olweus *et al.* 1988; Williams *et al.* 2000; Simpson, 2001). Recently, in a study on women, it was suggested that an aggressive response to provocation was correlated to high levels of testosterone in saliva (Probst *et al.*, 2018).

1.5.3 Hypothalamus-anterior pituitary: β-endorphin

In the anterior pituitary, the same hormone precursor that generate ACTH also generate β -endorphin. (Figure 1). β -endorphin is released into the peripheral circulation due to stress or exercise (Lee & Wardlaw, 2007) and is involved in pain inhibition by binding to opioid receptors. They are therefore important in the endogenous pain-control system. β -endorphin has also been reported to mediate euphoria that can be experienced in prolonged exercise (Smith, 2006). In a recent study on stress in shelter dogs (Righi *et al.*, 2019), β -endorphin is suggested to play a role in modulating the stress response in dogs.

1.5.4 Hypothalamus-posterior pituitary: Vasopressin and Oxytocin

Vasopressin and oxytocin are synthesized in and secreted from neurons in the hypothalamus. They are transported directly via axons to the posterior pituitary, from which they are released into the blood stream (Figure 1). Oxytocin stimulates milk ejection and uterine contraction during parturition. The milk ejection reflex is induced by tactile stimuli of the mammary glands which send impulses via sensory nerves to the hypothalamus. Oxytocin is secreted and then released from the pituitary to the blood and transported to the mammary glands where it induces contraction of myoepithelial cells around the alveoli (Sjaastad, 2016). Oxytocin is also synthesized in the ovaries, testes, uterus, and several other organs. Oxytocin is also released as a neurotransmitter in the brain and has, along with other hormones, an important function in developing and maintaining maternal attachment to offspring and promoting maternal care (Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Newberry & Swanson 2008). It also has a dampening effect on social anxiety and fear (Insel and Young, 2001).

Vasopressin, also known as antidiuretic hormone (ADH), is secreted during dehydration to decrease water excretion by the kidneys. However, ADH is also a potent vasoconstrictor and is, as such, called vasopressin. The vasoconstrictor effect of vasopressin can elevate blood pressure when concentrations reach high levels. Vasopressin is also a neurotransmitter and involved in aggressive behaviour (Stribley & Carter, 1999; Caldwell *et al.*, 2008) and enhances arousal, attention and vigilance (Carter & Altemus, 1997).



Figure 2. Modified from Winblad von Walter, 2010. A simplified schematic drawing of the stress response. The figure illustrates the physiological and behavioural stress response, e.g. the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis (blue pathway), release from the posterior pituitary (red pathway), stimulation of the autonomic nervous system (green pathway) and behavior (purple)

1.5.5 Behaviours related to fear and discomfort

There are a diverse array of behavioural patterns indicating a fear reaction in animals. Avoidance, flight, and immobility are examples common in several species and observable in both dogs and goats. However, behavioural patterns related to fear can be contradictory since both proactive and reactive strategies can be observed, such as active defence and avoidance and passive avoidance. Active defence includes attack or threat while active avoidance can be expressed as flight, hiding, or escape. Passive avoidance can be expressed as immobility or freezing (Boissy, 1995; Erhard & Mendl, 1999). In dogs, several behavioural expressions of fear have been identified. Dogs fearful of sounds may pant, pace, tremble or perform eliminative behaviours (Sherman & Mills, 2008), but hiding or escape behaviour is also indicative of fear in dogs. In goats, locomotor activity, rearing, exploration and vocalisations (Price & Thos, 1980; Forkman *et al.*, 2007) but also sniffing (Carbonaro *et al.* 1992) are examples of behaviour recorded in fearful situations.

When mother and young are separated early and abruptly, the behavioural response for reinstatement can be locomotion (searching) and vocalisations (Newberry & Swanson 2008) which under natural conditions would increase the probability of reunion (Panksepp, 1998; Manteuffel *et al.*, 2004) Acoustic signals communicate that animals are in need of something and Goats use different types of vocalisations and exhibit increased frequencies of vocalisation when isolated from social partners (Price & Thos, 1980).

1.6 Early separation: effect on milk production and growth

Early separation often leads to reduced growth rate in goat kids (Miranda de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010). The main argument for early separation of goats and kids is the increased amount of milk that can be collected for processing and consumption (Delgado-Pertíñez *et al.*, 2009a, 2009b). However, there is a great diversity in housing and management systems of goats, and the time period that goats and kids are kept together varies in Sweden from one day up to five months (Brandt, 2009), but it has been recommended that weaning should not occur before six to seven weeks of age (Miranda-de la lama & Mattiello, 2010). In addition, it has been shown that an early interruption of the bond between mother and kid affects both

lactation persistency and oxytocin release during milking (Marnet & McKusick, 2001).



Figure 3. One of the goats in the experimental herd with her triplets in home pen. Goats and kids develop at strong bond early after parturition.

2. Aims of the thesis

The overall aim of the present thesis was to study physiology and behaviour during fear and discomfort in dogs and goats and the interactions between the different variables.

Specific aims were to:

- Investigate the physiological response, as measured by heart rate, haematocrit, cortisol, progesterone, testosterone, vasopressin and ßendorphin concentrations, in dogs to a floor test and a gunshot test (Paper I).
- Establish whether it is possible to separate dogs that are behaviourally fearful of walking on different types of floors and fearful of gunshots from less fearful dogs, by measuring physiological variables (Paper I).
- Investigate physiological responses of tethering versus loosely held goats in pairs, by recording heart rate, blood pressure, and plasma concentrations of cortisol, β-endorphin, vasopressin, and oxytocin (Paper II).
- Investigate physiological response of blood pressure, heart rate, cortisol, β-endorphin, vasopressin, and oxytocin and behaviour of dairy goats during suckling and permanent separation of goats and kids with established bonding (Paper III).
- Investigate home-pen behaviour and growth rate in kids that were early separated, daily separated or kept full time with mother goat (Paper IV).
- Investigate how milk yield and milk composition in goats are affected by daily separation or no separation from kids (Paper IV).

Establish whether kids reared full-time with mother, part time with mother or without mother differed in their physiological and behavioural responses to an aversive situation (Paper V).

3. Hypothesis

The overall hypothesis was that measuring several physiological and behavioural parameters is important when evaluating animal welfare.

The following specific hypothesis were tested:

- It is possible to separate fearful dogs from less fearful dogs by measuring physiological response to two fear eliciting tests; a floor test and a gun shot test (Paper I)
- Tethering in goats cause a physiological stress response and affect welfare (Paper II)
- Suckling is a peaceful event, while acute separation causes stress in goats with established bonding to their kids (Paper III)
- Keeping goats and kids together increase welfare of both mother and kid, and have a positive effect on milk composition (Paper IV).
- Kids reared with mother for two months are less fearful in their physiological and behavioural reactions when compared to early separated kids. The reaction of daily separated kids will fall between the other two treatments (Paper V)

4. Materials and methods

In this section, a summary of methods and experimental procedures are given. Detailed descriptions can be found in the corresponding sections within each paper (I-V).

4.1 Animals

4.1.1 Dogs (Paper I)

Thirteen privately owned male dogs of the Collie breed were studied. The collie breed was chosen for the breed's known problems with fearfulness. The dogs were selected from a questionnaire. The questionnaires were distributed at a meeting for interested dog owners where they were informed about the study, and contained questions about the behaviour of the dogs that concerned everyday life. All dogs classified as fearful of gunshots in this study were described as such by their owners. In addition, the owners stated whether they perceived their dogs to be fearful or not fearful of walking on different types of floors. Seven dogs were considered as fearful and seven as less fearful. Since fear of floors did not always occur concomitantly with fear of gunshots, there were consequently four different groups of dogs. One of the less fearful dogs was taken out of the study because of difficulties with the blood sampling. The use of privately owned dogs was approved by the National Board of Agriculture and the experimental design was approved by the local Ethics committee for Animal Experiments in Uppsala.

4.1.2 Goats and kids (Paper II-IV)

All goats and kids in this thesis were of the Swedish domestic breed (*Capra hircus*) and belonged to an experimental herd at the Swedish University of

Agricultural Sciences. They were housed in indoor pens enriched with boxes as hideouts and tables to climb on. Straw and wood shavings were used as bedding material. The goats and kids were fed hay and concentrates. Water and mineral stones were available ad libitum. They were well adapted to handling and the adult goats were accustomed to blood sampling procedure. The care of the animals and the experimental design for all studies was approved by the local Ethics committee for Animal Experiments in Uppsala. In the study presented in Paper II, eight non-pregnant, non-lactating goats, aged 2-6 years participated. Six of the goats had implanted transmitters that registered heart rate and arterial blood pressure telemetrically.

In the study presented in Paper III, seven goats with similar transmitters as described above and one kid each participated. The goats were moved to individual boxes before parturition and kept there during the study.

Eleven goats (*Capra hircus*) and 22 kids participated in the studies presented in paper IV and V. The goats were milked between 07.00 h and 08:00 h in the morning and between 15:00 and 16:00 h in the afternoon.

4.2 Experimental procedures

4.2.1 Dogs: Floor test and gunshot test (Paper I)

The dogs were subjected to a floor test and a subsequent gunshot test (Figure 4). During the floor test, the dogs walked over a total of seven different types of floors in sequence: plastic, parquet, marble stairs, clinker, concrete, iron grids, and wobbling boards. Before the test, and after the parquet, marble stairs and the wobbling boards, blood samples were taken. After the floor test was finished, the dogs were walked to a fenced meadow where they rested for 30 minutes. Two gunshots were then fired with five minutes in between. Heart rate was measured throughout the experiment by telemetric Polar equipment and blood samples were taken through a permanent catheter in the cephalic vein before, during, and after the tests. In this study, several behavioural parameters were recorded, but all measured behaviours were not possible to include in Paper I. For classification of the dogs as fearful or not fearful during the floor test, an observer scored whether dogs were unaffected, a little hesitant, or very hesitant to enter the passage, and whether

dogs tended to move towards the wall. After both the first and second gunshots, the initial startle reaction and degree of fear was estimated as described in Paper I.



Figure 4. One of the participating dogs passing iron grids during floor test, and one dog in the meadow during gunshot test

4.2.2 Goats: Tethered alone vs loose-housed in pairs (Paper II)

The goats were randomly divided into two groups and the experiment was performed in a cross-over design. The goats were either kept in a pen with another goat or tied up individually in a metabolism cage. All goats were housed in the same stable and could see and hear each other. Before the registrations started, the animals were housed in the new system for four days. Thereafter, telemetry registrations were made every 30 minutes for 24 hours. Blood samples were taken during a separate day by venipuncture at 08.00, 10.00, 12.00, 14.00 and 16.00h, and plasma cortisol, β -endorphin, vasopressin and oxytocin concentrations were analysed.

4.2.3 Goats: Suckling and permanent separation (Paper III)

Four studies were performed in goats kept with their first-born kid in individual boxes (Figure 5):

• Study 1: Heart rate and blood pressure were analysed around an undisturbed suckling as visualized on the videotape recordings.

- Study 2: Blood samples were taken before, during, and after suckling.
- Study 3: On the day of goat and kid separation, blood samples were taken before and after separation, 3-4 days after parturition. In addition, vocalisations were recorded after separation.
- Study 4: Heart rate and blood pressure were analysed the first and second nights after parturition, and the nights after study 2 and 3. Time spent lying down was estimated from the video recordings.

The goats were videotaped for behavioural analyses and heart rate and blood pressure were recorded by telemetry during all four studies. Similar to paper II, the blood samples were analysed for plasma concentrations of cortisol, β -endorphin, vasopressin and oxytocin



Figure 5. One of the goats with her first born kid in home pen. All goats and kids were kept together during colostrum period.

4.2.4 Kids: Effect on kids of mother goat presence (Paper IV-V)

Before parturition, twelve goats were randomly assigned to two treatments: 'daily separated,' where goats and kids (n=6) were kept together but separated daytime between 07.30-15.00h (DAY-SEP), and 'no separation,' where goats and kids (n=6) were kept together 24h (NON-SEP). The kids in the latter group were only allowed to suckle one teat, as the other was

covered with a bra to prevent suckling. After parturition, one kid was allocated into the same treatments as their mothers (DAY-SEP, NON-SEP) and the rest of the kids (n=10) were allocated to a third treatment where the kids were permanently separated from their mothers after the colostrum period (SEP). Due to udder problems one goat was euthanised, and therefore one of the goats in DAY-SEP had two suckling kids.

In Paper IV, we focused on kids' behaviour in the home pen, kids' growth, and the mother goats' milk production. Body weight of all kids was recorded once weekly from birth until 9 weeks of age (Figure 6). At two weeks (range 12-16 days), and 2 months (range 59-69 days), instantaneous recordings of kids' behaviour in the home pen were made every 10th minute by direct observations from 7:00 until 19:00h by two observers. The goats were machine milked twice daily at 7:30 and 15:30h, and milk samples were collected over 70 days. Both udder halves were milked separately with a specially designed "separation-milker 8L" bucket-milking machine (provided by DeLaval international AB, Tumba, Sweden). Samples of fresh milk were analysed for fat, lactose and total protein by a mid-infrared spectroscopy method (Miris farm milk analyser, 2001). The casein concentration was determined by a rennet coagulation method and finally measured by the same mid-infrared spectroscopy method as above.

In Paper V, focus was on kids' reactions to challenges. All kids were subjected to an isolation test at two weeks and two months of age. The isolation test lasted for twelve minutes with the sound of a dog bark at ten minutes. In addition, a 20-minute arena test was performed at two months of age. At 10 minutes, a novel object appeared in the shape of a plastic bag filled with cans that fell from the ceiling. During all tests, heart rate was measured every 5 seconds by telemetric Polar equipment and saliva samples were taken. During the isolation test, the first sample was taken in the home pen before the test, the second sample immediately after the test, the third sample ten minutes after reunion with mother, respectively kids group, and the fourth sample one hour after reunion. During the arena test, the first sample was taken in the home pen before the test, the second sample immediately after the test was finished, and the third sample one hour after the test. Recordings of vocalisations were made continuously by the same person by direct observation during all tests. The arena-test was videotaped and analysed for behaviours using Boris 4.1.1. (Friard & Gamba, 2016).


Figure 6. The kids were weighed weekly.

4.3 Aspects of materials and methods

4.3.1 Methods for physiological measures

Blood sampling

Measuring physiological variables can affect the animal and influence the results. It is therefore important that the people involved knows the proper way of handling the animal to mimimize effects of the sampling per se. Analyses of blood give much information and therefore blood sampling is commonly used.

To minimize the disturbing of the animals in the test situation in Paper I, and goats in Paper III, a catheter was inserted under local anaesthesia into the cephalic vein in the dogs and in a jugular vein in the goats (Figure 7). In the present experiments, these procedures were done calmly and with gentleness and the animals did not show aversive reactions and appeared calm. After insertion the animals rested, and thereafter blood samples could be withdrawn repeatedly without any reactions from the individual.



Figure 7. A dog with a catether inserted in the cephalic vein and blood sampling in a goat from a catether inserted in the jugular vein.

In Paper II, the goats were in some parts of the experiment loose-housed in pairs. Goats are curious and active animals, and there was a risk that the goats would try to nip on each other's permanent catheters. Therefore, blood samples were taken with venipuncture. Since the goats were used to experiments and to be restrained, they did not seem to react much to the sampling.

Alternatives to blood sampling include collection of saliva. This method works for some parameters, for example cortisol. The advantages with saliva sampling it that it is non-invasive and easy to perform. In cases of privately owned animals, it is possible for the owner to collect the samples by themselves. However, despite being non-invasive, some animals may resist this method, and it may be difficult to collect enough amount saliva. In addition, not all hormones are possible to analyse in saliva.

Blood plasma and saliva cortisol analyses

All blood and saliva samples were analysed in our laboratory by the same experienced person. The methods used were validated for each variable and each species. Dilutions of plasma were parallel to standard curves in all radioimmunoassay used. The analyses performed also had high recovery, low intra-assay variation (<10%) and were sensitive as judged by the low least detectable values.

Recordings of heart rate and blood pressure

A useful method when studying fast autonomic changes is telemetric measurements, which make it possible to continuously measure heart rate and blood pressure in undisturbed animals.

Heart rate measurements in the dogs in Paper I and the kids in Paper V were performed by a Polar heart rate monitor (Polar Vantage NV; Polar Ltd Bromma). Before the experiments started, a heart rate monitor was strapped around the chest of the dogs/kids. The Polar heart rate monitor is a non-invasive method for recording heart rate enabling recordings of the heart rate of freely moving animals. The receiver is a watch that can be fastened on the animal (Figure 8).



Figure 8. The Polar Sport Tester in one of the dogs in Paper I and in one of the kids in paper V. The goat kid is sniffing on a harness that was used on goats in Paper IV-V.

The goats in Papers II and III had a surgically implanted telemetric devices for recording both heart rate and blood pressure (Figure 9). The device consists of a sealed transmitter body (Data Sciences Inc., St Paul, MN, USA) placed subcutaneously on the side of the goats' neck connected to a fluidfilled catheter which ends in the carotid artery. The operation technique has been described by (Hydbring *et al.*, 1997). The transmitter sends signals to a computer via a receiver placed over each box. This method makes it possible to register both blood pressure and heart rate in unrestrained animals over long time periods of time. By comparing recordings made simultaneously with telemetry and conventional methods, this method has been validated in goats.



Figure 9. The telemetric device and an illustration of the catether (Paper II and III).

Both telemetric methods have advantages and disadvantages. The surgically implanted telemetric device gives the possibility to record both heart rate and systolic and diastolic blood pressure values in conscious freely moving animals. However, the area the animals can move around is restricted by the distance to the receivers. An obvious advantage with the Polar Sport Tester is that it is non-invasive and that it can be used in the field since the receiver is carried by the animal. The method is used in several species, and has been validated for dogs (Essner *et al.*, 2013) cows However, it is not possible to register blood pressure and the belt moves, the transmission may be disrupted.

4.3.2 Methods for behavioural measures

Even though behavioural studies are always non-invasive, it must be taken into consideration that animals can be affected solely by the presence of an observer or by a behaviour test *per se*.

Since the dogs used in this study were living as family members, the dog owner stayed with the dog throughout the whole experiment to avoid effects of separation from the owner. The dog owners were instructed to be passive and not interact with their dog during the floor test and gunshot test. The owners responded carefully to this. Throughout the dog study, one observer did direct observations of the behaviour of the dogs, but the whole experiment was also videotaped. The goats in Papers II and III were observed for several days and nights in some experiments. For practical reasons, direct observations at all times were not possible, which was why the behaviour of the goats was observed from videotapes, and due to missing data the behavioural data were not included in Paper II. The arena test in Paper V was also videotaped. Documentation of behaviour on videotapes is valuable since the tapes can be checked many times, reducing the risk of missing valuable information. On the other hand, small behavioural expressions, such as for example trembling or ear position, may be difficult to detect from a videotape.

The registrations on home-pen behaviour in Paper IV, as well as registrations of vocalization at separation in Paper III, and the isolation and arena tests in Paper V, were performed by direct observation. For the long-term registrations of several behaviours for home pen behaviour, we chose instantaneous sampling every 10th minute, but for the registration of vocalization during the tests that lasted 12-20 minutes, we performed continuous observations. Continuous recording gives a more accurate picture of the performed behaviours but is not possible to manage through several hours and numerous behaviours.

4.3.3 Methods for production measures

In the goats that were kept full time with their kids (NON-SEP), one teat was machine milked and the kids suckled the other. To prevent the kids from suckling the teat intended for machine milking, the goats had a specially designed bra suspended in a harness that allowed the kids to suckle only one teat (Figure 10). Daily separated kids (DAY-SEP) suckled both teats.



Figure 10. The NON-SEP goats in Paper IV-V had a specially designed bra preventing the kids from suckling the teat intended for machine milking.

5. Main results

This section gives a summary of the results of Papers I - V. Detailed information of the results can be found in the corresponding sections within each paper.

5.1 Fear provocation in dogs (paper I)

Seven of thirteen dogs were classified as fearful of floors. The single physiological variable affected by the floor test was the heart rate, which was higher in fearful dogs during the floor test than in less fearful dogs. Seven of thirteen dogs were classified as fearful of gunshots. The physiological reaction to a gunshot was striking in fearful dogs. Almost all measured variables, heart rate, haematocrit, plasma cortisol, progesterone, vasopressin and ß-endorphin, were higher in fearful dogs compared to in less fearful dogs. In dogs fearful of gunshots, the behavioural expression of fearfulness showed a large variation between individuals. Some dogs responded to this challenge by escape, while others stayed passive in the same spot, trembling or shaking.

5.2 Complex stress reaction in goats (paper II and III)

Comparisons between tethered goats and goats kept penned in pairs, in Paper II, revealed that heart rate and arterial blood pressure were higher when the goats were tied up. In contrast, the β -endorphin and oxytocin concentrations were significantly higher in the loose-housed goats. In addition, oxytocin concentrations fluctuated more when the goats were kept in pairs. However, cortisol and vasopressin concentrations did not differ between the two systems. In line with earlier studies, heart rate was affected by feeding

(Hydbring *et al.*, 1999), and increased around feeding in both tethered and loose goats held in pairs.

As ascertained in Paper III, the separation of goats from their kids did not cause any physiological changes in the goats. During the 20 minutes of observations after separation, both goats and kids vocalised intensively, but it took only 11 minutes on average for the goats to lie down after separation. Both heart rate and blood pressure were significantly lower, and the goats spent more time lying down the night after separation than the first and second nights after parturition.

5.3 Effects of Suckling in goats (paper III)

Suckling did not induce any significant cardiovascular changes in the goats tested in this study. Plasma concentrations of cortisol and β-endorphin increased during suckling and five minutes after, while oxytocin and vasopressin remained unaffected by suckling.

5.4 Milk yield and composition in goats kept with their kids full-time or with daily separated kids (paper IV)

The mean daily milk yield were higher in DAY-SEP goats (2420 g \pm 119 g) compared to NON-SEP goats (2149 \pm 79 g). In addition, the fat concentration was also higher in DAY-SEP goats (4.9 \pm 0.1 %) than NON-SEP goats (4.4 \pm 0.1%). However, there were no differences between DAY-SEP and NON-SEP goats in total protein, lactose, or casein concentration.

Regarding udder halves, the, milk yield was as expected higher from the milked teat than from the suckled one in the NON-SEP goats while no differences were found between right and left udder halves in DAY-SEP goats, indicating that both teats were suckled at a similar amount (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Kids suckling. The NON-SEP goats had a bra in a harness to prevent the kids from suckling the teat intended for milking, while the DAY-SEP suckled both teats.

5.5 The effect of mother goat presence on kids growth and home-pen behaviour (paper IV)

The growth rate was similar in all kids $(180 \pm 9 \text{ g/day})$. At two weeks, kids that stayed with their mothers full-time showed more hiding behaviour than the other treatments. There were no differences between treatments in total active or resting behaviour, but kids that were permanently separated were more active with another kid at both two weeks and two months than kids kept full time with mother .

5.6 The effect of mother goat presence on their kids response to isolation and an arena test (paper V)

There were no clear-cut differences between treatments in the kids' responses to isolation or arena test. However, the kids that were permanently separated from their mothers deviated most from the other treatments in the isolation tests. They reduced their vocalization earlier and had a higher heart rate before and after the sound of a dog bark at two weeks and a higher heart rate throughout the test at two months. On the other hand, the daily separated kids bleated more at two weeks compared to the other treatments, and showed a clear decrease in heart rate after dog barking at two months. In addition, the daily separated kids showed the strongest fear reaction in the arena test, at two months of age. They performed more escape attempts before 'startle' and showed a clear drop in heart rate and more passivity after the novel object. The permanently separated kids vocalized more explorative

behaviour after the test. However, this was not significant compared to kids kept full-time with mother. There were no differences between rearing systems regarding latency to sniff object or exploring the startle object.



Figure 12. Pictures from the different home pens for permanently separated kids, daily separated kids and in kids kept full time with mother.

5.6.1 Reunion after isolation (unpublished results)

After the isolation test, we measured the kids response to reunion either with their mothers or the kids group. For the separated kids, we defined "drinking milk from the milk bar with an artificial teat" as suckling. At two weeks of age, the daily separated kids suckled more than kids in the other treatments (P<0.05), but at two months, there were no difference between treatments in suckling (Figure 13). At two weeks, kids kept full-time with mother picked more hay than separated kids, and at two months, the daily separated kids and kids kept full-time with mother picked more hay than separated kids.



Figure 13. Suckling (a) and eating behaviour (b) registered every 10^{th} seconds for ten minutes during the reunion phase (after isolation test). The kids were either permanently separated from their mothers (SEP, n=10), separated for 8h during daytime (DAY-SEP, n=6) or not separated (NON-SEP, n=6). The kids were observed for ten minutes each at two weeks of age and for two months of age. Values are presented as least square means (LSM) and standard error of mean (SEM). Different superscript letters indicate significant differences (P<0.05).

At two weeks, the overall mean heart rate was higher during reunion than isolation but at two months, the overall mean heart rate was higher during isolation than reunion for all treatments (Figure 14).



Figure 14. Overall means of heart rate during isolation and reunion at 2 weeks (a) and 2 months (b) of age for all treatments. The kids were either permanently separated from their mothers (SEP, n=10), separated for 8h during daytime (DAY-SEP, n=6) or not separated (NON-SEP, n=6). At 2 weeks, the overall mean heart rate was higher during reunion than isolation, but at 2 months the heart rate was higher during isolation than reunion for all treatments. *indicate significant differences in mean heart rate between isolation and reunion. Level of significance was (P<0.05).

5.7 Further observations (unpublished results)

5.7.1 Individual differences

The individual differences in heart rate and vocalisation were large in both Paper IV and V. During isolation test at two weeks of age, eight kids showed a pattern where heart rate and vocalisation followed each other, while thirteen kids showed a different pattern with a negative relationship between heart rate and vocalisation (Figure 15). Twins that received the same treatment (in SEP and DAY-SEP), showed different reactions according to vocalization and heart rate pattern.



Figure 15. Heart rate • and vocalization rate in kids during isolation test at two weeks of age. Eight kids showed a pattern where heart rate and vocalisation followed each other (a), while thirteen kids showed a negative relationship (b).

5.7.2 Gender differences

In Papers I-III, we studied one gender. In Papers IV-V, the kids were both females and males. In those studies, primarily the female kids were kept with their mothers, which resulted in a skewed distribution of gender between treatments. A single overall difference between gender was found. The latency to sniff object was longer for females than males (Figure 16).



Figure 16. Latency to sniff object during the arena test in 22 kids. The latency to sniff object was longer for females than males ($P \le 0.03$).

5.8 Methods and results in summary

The methods used for behavioural and physiological measures aimed to disturb the animals as little as possible, but also be possible to perform in the different studies. Therefore, different methodologies were used in the different papers. In Table 1, all parameters used in the respective papers are presented, as well as whether they significantly increased, decreased or were remained unchanged during the study.

Table 1. Summary of methods used and results of the studies included in this thesis.
(\uparrow, \downarrow) indicate significant differences, (\leftrightarrow) no significant differences, $(-)$ not measured

$(,\downarrow)$ indicate significant	differences, (←) no signifi	cant differen	ices, (-) not meas	urea
Variables	I (Dogs)	II (Goats)	III (Goats)	IV (Kids)	V (Kids)
	Floor test/	Tethering	Suckling/	Separated/	Separated/
	Gunshot test		Acute	Daily	Daily
			separation	Separated/	Separated/
				Not separated	Not separated
Physiological					
Heart rate	↑, ↑	↑	\leftrightarrow	-	↑↓
Haematocrit	↔, ↑	-	-	-	-
Blood pressure	-	↑	\leftrightarrow	-	-
Cortisol	\leftrightarrow,\uparrow	\leftrightarrow	$\uparrow, \leftrightarrow$	-	\leftrightarrow
β-endorphin	\leftrightarrow,\uparrow	↓	$\uparrow, \leftrightarrow$	-	-
Oxytocin	-	↓	\leftrightarrow	-	-
Vasopressin	\leftrightarrow,\uparrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	-	-
Progesterone	\leftrightarrow,\uparrow	-	-	-	-
Testosterone	\leftrightarrow	-	-	-	-
Behavioural					
Vocalisation	-	-	↑	-	↑
Active behaviour	-	-	-	↑	↑
Passive behaviour					
(resting/laying)	-	-	1	<u>↑</u>	\leftrightarrow
Exploring	-	-	-	-	↑↓
Startle-response	$\uparrow \leftrightarrow (\text{gunshot})$	-	-	-	↑↓
Immobility	↑↓	-	-	-	↑↓
Avoidance/escape	↑↓	-	-	-	↑↓
Behavioural tests					
Isolation test	-	-	-	-	↑↓
Separation	-	-	\leftrightarrow	↑ (↑
Tethering	-	↑	-	-	-
Arena test	-	-	-	-	↑↓
Production					
Milk production	-	-	-	↑	-
Growth rate	-	-	-	\leftrightarrow	-

Heart rate was measured in all papers but Paper IV, and an elevated heart rate was found in fearful dogs (Paper I), tethered goats (Paper II) and a mixed response was shown in kids during the tests (Paper IV). However, heart rate

was not altered in goats according to suckling or acute separation from kids (Paper III). Blood pressure was measured in goats in Paper II and III, and was elevated as a response to tethering (Paper II), but not altered due to suckling or separation (Paper III). Haematocrit response was measured solely in the dogs (Paper I), and increased as a response to gun fire in dogs fearful of gunshots. Blood plasma concentrations of cortisol, β -endorphin and vasopressin were measured in Paper I-III. In addition, oxytocin was measured in goats in Paper II and III. Progesterone and testosterone were measured solely in dogs (Paper I). In the kids in Paper V, saliva cortisol concentration was measured, but there were no differences between treatments. However, plasma cortisol and β -endorphin concentrations were elevated in dogs fearful of gunshots (Paper I) and during suckling in goats (Paper II), while tethered goats showed lower concentrations of β -endorphin than loose housed (Paper II). This was also true for oxytocin (Paper II).

Vocalisation was measured as a response to separation in goats (Paper III) and social isolation in kids (Paper V). It was shown to be the only reaction in goats that were acutely separated from their offspring's, and could also help in distinguish the reaction to isolation in kids reared in different systems. Passive behavior was measured in Paper III-V and active behavior in Paper IV-V. The goat mothers were laying down more after separation (Paper III), but there were no differences between treatments in total time spent resting or being active in home-pen. However, differences were found in time spent resting or being active close to social companion or alone (Paper IV). In Paper V, the behavioural tests revealed differences between treatments. The daily separated kids were more active than the separated kids before novel object. Exploring was measured in kids during the arena test (Paper V). The separated kids and the non-separated kids spent more time exploring than the daily separated after novel object although the difference was not significant between daily separated and non-separated. The startle response to gun-shot in dogs and novel object in kids was measured as escape behavior as an indicator of fear. This was used as a measure to classify the dogs as fearful respectively less fearful of gun-shots.

Potentially stressful events or tests were used in all Papers but Paper IV, and was effective to detect treatment differences. The production measures milk yield and milk composition were measured in goats, and growth rate in kids in paper IV. Growth rate did not differ between treatments, but milk composition was positively affected by suckling in both daily separated and goats kept full time with their kids.



Figure 17. Goat and kid in NON-SEP treatment resting together

6. General discussion

6.1 Discussion of main results

Measuring several physiological and behavioural parameters, preferable simultaneously, has in this thesis proved positive, when it comes to assessing fear/discomfort and animal welfare. Even though the work with this thesis began twenty years ago, the subject of measuring and assessing animal welfare has become even more in focus to meet society and consumer demand, and to secure a sustainable food production system. The management systems that form the basis of the studies in goats in this thesis, early mother-young separation and tied-up housing systems, were of high interest when this work started. At present, these management practices are still common in dairy cattle in many parts of the world, although it is forbidden according to Swedish legislation to build new facilities for tied-up systems. In fact, on behalf of the Swedish government, the Board of Agriculture recently presented a report on the consequences of a prohibition of tied-up animals in Sweden (Jordbruksverket, 2019). The interest in animal welfare issues of the second species of this thesis, the domestic dog, has increased during recent years (Chmelíková et al., 2020). Hence, the results of our dog study, that was published already in 2004, are topical issues today.

The results presented emphasise the importance of using several behavioural and physiological measurements to understand animal reactions and evaluate animal welfare. In addition, different behavioural reactions to the same stimuli may result in similar physiological response. However, the more we learn about interactions between physiology and behaviour the closer we get to the animal's emotions. Hence, it is important that evaluations of stress situations in animals do not exclusively rely on measurements of one stress hormone alone. This became obvious in this thesis where isolation, arena test and tethering did not cause a cortisol response, although glucorticoid concentrations are often used as a measure of stress (Ralph & Tilbrook, 2016).

Heart rate and activity/passivity showed strong significance in the present thesis, which indicates that measures of heart rate, in combination with the individual's physical activity, can make it possible to interpret if an elevated heart rate is caused by physical activity, mental arousal or a combination of both. However, to interpret whether the individual experiences positive or negative feelings, it is necessary to consider the situation in which the measures are performed. Hence, the commonly used stress markers heart rate and cortisol measurements should always be combined with measurements of physical activity and behavioural studies of fight / flight, positive expectation and exploration. It is also important to consider if the individual is in a social situation.

6.1.1 Fearfulness in dogs

The strongest fear response in this thesis was seen in dogs fearful of gunshots, where almost all physiological parameters measured were elevated and the dogs also showed strong behavioural reactions that nevertheless varied between individuals. The gunshot test caused a massive physiological stress response, a fear reaction, while the floor test just increased heart rate in fearful dogs. The increased heart rate may be partly due to the novel situation and the locomotion performed. In dogs fearful of gunshots, the behavioural expression of fearfulness showed a large variation between individuals. Some dogs responded to this challenge by trying to escape, while others stayed passive at the same spot, trembling or shaking. Despite the different responses, all measured physiological variables except testosterone increased in fearful dogs compared to dogs that were less fearful, indicating a massive activation of both sympathetic nervous system and hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal axis. When analysing the behavioural recordings, it turned out that the measures, hesitance and tendency to move towards the wall in the floor test and initial reaction and degree of fear for the gunshot test, were the measures that best correlated to the mental states of fear and fearlessness.

In this thesis, observer ratings were used as a tool to score the degree of fear of gunshots. The use of observer ratings has become more common in recent years and is considered a useful scientific tool (Meagher, 2009). This was combined with the initial reaction which, in our opinion, correlated well to the response to gunshots.

The difference in cortisol concentration between dogs fearful of gunshots and less fearful dogs was striking—the plasma peak level was four times as high in fearful dogs as in less fearful dogs. It has been suggested that a doubling of plasma cortisol concentrations indicate stress or poor welfare (Houpt, 2004). The elevation of progesterone concentration simultaneously to cortisol in the dog study, indicate an ACTH stimulated release of progesterone from the adrenal cortex. Progesterone release in response to stress is in accordance with earlier studies in for example steers (Cooper *et al.*, 2011), rodents (Deis *et al.*, 1989; Romeo *et al.*, 2004), and humans (Breier & Buchanan, 1992; Herrera *et al.*, 2016).

Both testosterone and vasopressin concentrations were elevated in both less fearful and fearful dogs already before the gunshots. Both these hormones are reported to be related to physical activity (Campbell *et al.*, 1982; Wade, 1984; Tharwat *et al.*, 2014) and the increased levels in all dogs may be explained by the physical activity during the walk to the fenced meadow where the gunshot test took place. However, there were no differences between fearful and less fearful dogs in testosterone concentration. Stimulation with ACTH has been reported to increase testosterone concentrations in female dogs but not in males (Frank *et al.*, 2003), which may explain the lack of differences in testosterone between fearful and less fearful dogs. Vasopressin on the other hand, was elevated after gunshot in fearful dogs, which is in accordance with the involvement of vasopressin in acute stress responses in cooperation with corticotropin releasing factor (Beurel & Nemeroff, 2014).

 β -endorphin is involved in inhibiting pain during acute stress. Hence, the elevated β -endorphin levels after gunshots in fearful dogs may have been caused by pain in the dogs' ears. However, it may also simply be an effect of the fearful dogs' experience of the situation as extremely stressful. β -endorphin is suggested to be involved in regulating long-term stress response in dogs by working together with the immune system, trying to prevent the adaptive response from becoming maladaptive (Righi *et al.*, 2019), but is also released during acute stress.

According to the results of this thesis, fear of gunshots constitutes a severe stress for the individual. However, anyone exposed to an unexpected loud noise can react with transient fear, and when exposed several times during a short time range, the fear can either fade or become more intense. For this reason, we chose to fire two gunshots to be able to identify dogs that were truly fearful of gunshots and not just surprised by a sudden loud noise. Fear of loud noises is recognised as a problem in dogs (Engel *et al.*, 2019; Riemer, 2019; Gähwiler *et al.*, 2020; Hakanen *et al.*, 2020), where fear of gunshots is the third most common fear reported (Sherman & Mills, 2008). In addition, (Blackwell, *et al.*, 2013) found that fear of fireworks and thunder frequently co-occurred with fear of gun shots, which suggest that fear of gunshots is a welfare problem in pet dogs. Fear of other loud noises as fire works and thunder are more prevalent within certain breeds than others (Hakanen *et al.*, 2020). Most likely, dogs fearful of gunshots are also more prevalent within some breeds.

In dogs fearful of floors, the single elevated parameter was heart rate. Increased heart rate caused by emotional stimuli or stress is known to decrease rapidly in dogs (Caraffa-Braga *et al.*, 1973), but the heart rate remained at a high level during the whole floor test, demonstrating an activation of the sympathetic nervous system for a long time period. However, the elevated heart rate was probably an effect of mental arousal rather than physical activity, since there was a difference between fearful and less fearful dogs and all dogs were physically active to the same extent. Hakanen *et al.*, (2020) studied factors related to fear of surfaces and heights, and found breed as one factor. The Rough Collie, used in this thesis was among the breeds with the highest prevalence. Therefore, both fear of floors and fear of gun shots should be considered in dog breeding.

6.1.2 Stress and discomfort in goats

Goats are active, curious and gregarious animals, and develop an exclusive mother-young bond rapidly after parturition (Romeyer *et al.*, 1994; Poindron *et al.*, 2007a, 2007b). Therefore, we hypothesized that both tethering alone and early separation from kids would induce a stress response in the goats and that rearing with or without contact to mother affect kids' response to a challenge. However, the only obvious behavioural reaction of the goats to separation from their kids was the intensive vocalisation for a short time period, and this was not accompanied by physiological changes. On the other hand, tethering resulted in both cardiovascular and hormonal changes. In a recent article by (Katzenberger *et al.*, 2020), it is pointed out that tie-stalls

have an adverse effect on animal welfare in cattle. In goats, the behavioural restrictions in tied-up systems, that limit locomotion and social contact (Miranda-de la Lama & Mattiello, 2010), probably means impaired welfare. This is supported by the findings in Paper II, where cardiovascular as well as hormonal effects of tethering were found when compared to loose-housed goats kept in pairs. The loose-housed goats could move around and perform social behaviours, while tethering implies behavioural restrictions. Hence, the cardiovascular response, with an elevated heart rate and blood pressure in tethered goats, was rather an effect of mental stress than physical activity.

In paper III-V, we aimed at an overall picture of changes in physiology, behaviour and production of early separation and different rearing systems, and the consequent impact on welfare in goats and kids. The acute phase of the separation of goat and kid in paper III, did not alert the sympathetic nervous system or activate the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis in the goats, as indicated by the absence of a physiological response. However, the separation caused an intensive, but short lived, vocalisation that was expressed in all goats. In cows, the vocalisation rate is higher if separation from calves is performed a few days after parturition compared to immediate separation (Lidfors, 1996; Weary & Chua, 2000; Stěhulová et al., 2008). In the studies in Papers III-V, the goats and kids were together during the colostrum period for four days before separation, which might have strengthened the maternal bonding. In addition, the goats and kids could hear each other after separation in Paper III - IV, which also may have influenced the vocalisation. Cows that can see and hear their calves after separation vocalise more than cows with no visual or auditory contact (Stěhulová et al., 2008). Increased vocalization rate is an indicator of arousal (Briefer, 2012), but it is suggested that goats can distinguish between contact calls of positive or negative valence, i.e. contact calls express the callers emotional state which the receiver goats can interpret (Baciadonna et al., 2019). In addition, it's been shown that kids can recognize and locate their mothers based on vocalisation cues (Ruiz-Miranda et al., 1993). Hence, it's possible that the vocal contact between the goats and their kids after separation had an influence on the lack of sympathetic response to separation in the goats.

Although the study in Paper III did not show any physiological responses in the goat mothers to early separation, the rearing of kids with or without their mothers seems to have an impact on the kids reactions to aversive situations (Paper V). Isolation is considered as a stressful situation for goats (Price & Thos, 1980; Kannan *et al.*, 2002), and isolation and the arena test are considered reliable tests of fear and discomfort in goats (Forkman *et al.*, 2007). Social isolation is a potent stressor for social species and the separation anxiety probably cause more suffering than a fear-eliciting event when social animals are tested individually (Forkman *et al.*, 2007) Hence, reactions to an arena test are probably elicited rather by the component of isolation than the new environment (Price & Thos, 1980).

Several of the results show that the permanently separated kids were more affected by system at two weeks of age. They did not show hiding behavior in home-pen, as measured by resting alone. During the hiding period, it is the mother who initiates contact between mother and kid by coming to the area of the kid's hiding place and calling for her kid. After the hiding period, it is the goat kid that seeks contact when it is time to suckle (Lickliter, 1984). The lack of mother initiative to suckling and the need to come out of the hiding place to suckle from an artificial teat may have affected the time spent hiding in separated kids. Another effect of the mother's presence, is that the more time kids had access to mother, the more time they spent together. This indicates that although kids start to form social groups with other kids after the hiding period (Lickliter, 1987; O'Brien,1988), and may spend considerable time with other kids, the presence of the mother is important. As hiders, kids spend more time together with mother as it matures (Lickliter, 1984b).

In addition, the permanently separated kids did not vocalise to the same extent as the other treatments during isolation test, but had a higher heart rate. At two months of age these kids vocalised as the other treatments, but had a higher heart rate. A possible explanation may be that they at that age had established social contact and security in the kids' group in which they were reared, and bleated as an attempt to reinstate contact. Due to technical reasons, we could not measure other behaviours than vocalization, and therefore we do not know if for instance higher physical activity was the cause of elevated heart rate in the separated kids. This stress the importance of measuring several physiological and behavioural variables.

At two months of age, the daily separated kids seemed to be most affected, although they were habituated to the daily separation procedure. Both goats and kids gave a "restless" impresson and bleated, especially when the door between the dams' and kids' rooms was opened up (personal observations). In addition, the daily separated kids showed the strongest fear reaction in the arena test. They performed most escape behaviour before 'the fear eliciting stimuli', and showed a clear drop in heart rate and more passivity after. The combination of immobile behaviour and a decrease in heart rate is indicative of a parasympathetic activation and a passive avoidance behaviour (Roelofs, 2017). The daily separation may have functioned as a repeated stressor for the kids, although it's tempting to believe that daily separation is of advantage for the kids well-being compared to permanent separation. Hence, daily separation in dairy production need further studies.

Kids kept full time with their mother reacted to in between the other treatments. However, in overall, they always reacted less compared to the most deviant treatment group.

6.1.3 Responses to aversive practices or experiences

Surprisingly, although we studied fear- and stressful situations in Papers I-III and V, significant elevations in cortisol were only found in dogs fearful of gunshots and in goats suckling their offsprings. Neither tethering or acute separation, nor isolation caused a cortisol response. Hence, cortisol should be supplemented with other stress markers when assessing stress. Vasopressin was measured in both dogs (Paper I) and tethered as well as suckled and separated goats (Paper II-III), but was solely released in dogs fearful of gunshots.

Progesterone and testosterone were measured in dogs in Paper I, and progesterone was elevated in dogs fearful of gunshots. The simultaneous release of progesterone and cortisol indicate an ACTH stimulated progesterone release, thus indicative of a stress-related response.

The causation of β -endorphin release is complicated to interpret. β endorphin is reported to increase as a response to a diverse array of emotions, i.e. pleasure and wellbeing in humans (Barchas & Berger 1980, Hawkes 1992) and stress and pain (Amir *et al.*, 1980; Greenwood & Shutt, 1990; Hydbring Sandberg *et al.*, 1999; Sprouse-Blum *et al.*, 2010). Oxytocin on the other hand, is involved in social bonding (Uvnäs-Moberg, 1998; Kendrick, 2004; Lim & Young, 2006). In addition, both β -endorphin and oxytocin have been reported to increase during physical activity (Kasting 1988; Sforzo, 1989; Malinowski *et al.*, 2006). Hence, the higher β -endorphin and oxytocin concentrations in loose goats compared to tethered may be explained by better possibilities to move around and perform social behaviours and thereby increased well-being.

Cortisol and β -endorphin were released concomitantly as a response to two completely different events, gunfire in fearful dogs and suckling in goats. This was probably an effect of pain or stress in the dogs respectively a metabolic effect in the goats.

Hence, the array of blood plasma hormones analysed in dogs in Paper I and adult goats in Paper II and III is a strength in evaluating the impact of events used in this thesis. The diverse endocrine responses in this thesis strengthens our hypothesis on the importance not to limit the physiological measures to one single hormone, e.g. cortisol, when evaluating potentially stressful situations.

The cardiovascular parameters heart rate and blood pressure are commonly used to evaluate stress reactions. An obvious advantage is the possibility to register 'at distance' without handling, and thereby affecting the animals. Heart rate and blood pressure respond quickly to changes in environment and/or frame of mind, and change in response to both positive and negative events. However, when using cardiovascular variables to evaluate stress, it is important to consider that cardiovascular variables fluctuate as a response to everyday events in goats, and also what could be considered as positive events, e.g., feeding and milking (Hydbring et al., 1997; Hydbring et al., 1999). In addition, age effects and physical activity must be taken into consideration. When kids were reunited with their mother or the kids group at two weeks, the overall mean heart rate was higher than during isolation. This indicate that reunion caused mental arousal to a larger extent than isolation. However, reunion was most probably experienced as positive, demonstrating that heart rate may increase as a response to positive events. At two months, the heart rate was lower during reunion than isolation, indicating that the stress response to isolation ceased when the kids were reunited to their mother respectively the kids group.

In dogs, hesitation to walk and walk close to the wall during floor test were used as indicators of immobility respectively avoidance/escape. The response to gun shots in fearful dogs was diverse, and ranged from freezing behaviour to extreme flight. Active behaviours in goats during an arena test have been measured as time spent running, number of squares entered, number of jumps (Roussel *et al.*, 2005). Jumps are common in isolated goats (Price & Thos, 1980) and are indicative of trying to escape from the situation.

The novel object that dropped from the ceiling during arnea test caused a flight response in all kids, and was most certainly a highly fear eliciting event. Regarding passive behaviour, there is an obvious difference between resting behaviour and fear induced immobility or freezing behaviour. The goats in Paper III were standing less after separation. However, the increased lying behaviour after separation is rather indicative of resting than a freezing response, while some of the fearful dogs responded by immobility induced by fear. Exploring in kids was measured as sniffing on the floor, walls or novel object. The behaviour exploring, in the sense of gathering information, is an important feature of survival in animals (Carson, 1985) and has been used as a measure of lower level of fear in goats (Roussel *et al.*, 2005). Exploring was not measured in the dogs, but would have been of interest as a complement to differ between fearful and less fearful dogs.

Separation from kids and tethering alone elicited different stress responses, solely a behavioural response respectively a cardiovascular response. Fear of walking different types of floors caused an elevation of heart rate while fear of gun shots caused a massive physiological and behavioural response in dogs. The complexity of the responses to the different situations in this thesis strengthen the need for using a wide variety of physiological and behavioural measures when evaluating stress and fear in animal welfare research.

6.1.4 Production measures

In the past, before the five freedoms were formulated, it was generally believed that animals that had a high production rate also had a good welfare. Today, we know that this is not always the case. However, it is still important that livestock used for food production have a high production. Therefore, it was of interest to investigate milk yield and composition in the goats, and growth rate in kids that was either early permanently separated, daily separated or kept full time with the mother.

The daily milk yield in Swedish dairy herds has been estimated to be 2.8 L per day and goat (Brandt, 2009). The goats in this study had lower milk yield in comparison, but only with small differences (2.4 kg in daily separated and 2.1 kg/day in non-separated goats). However, the goats in this study produced more milk in comparison to other goat breeds kept together with their kids. For example, the daily production of marketable milk for Payoya dairy goats was 2.0 L during the suckling period and 2.1 L after

weaning (Delgado-Pertíñez, Guzmán-Guerrero, Caravaca, et al. 2009) (Delgado-Pertinez et al., 2009 b) and Florida dairy MIX-goats yielded 1L marketable milk (Delgado-Pertinez et al., 2009 a). (Delgado-Pertíñez, Guzmán-Guerrero, Mena, et al. 2009) Hence, the results in paper IV confirms that it is possible to maintain marketable milk yield during 70 days in Swedish dairy goats kept together with one kid. This is in contrast to (Fernández et al., 2019) who found that marketable milk production was higher during six weeks after parturition in separated goats compared to goats kept with their kids for 24 hours. However, after weaning at six weeks, they found no differences in marketable milk production. In that study, they found no effect on milk fat content. Despite the drop in marketable milk production, they concluded that artificial rearing of kids increase rearing costs, which meant a final economic return in favour of rearing kids together with the mother goat. In that study, the live weight at 42 days was less in artificially reared kids despite ad libitum access. In contrast to our study, they were fed milk replacer and received a lesser amount than suckling kids. In our study, the growth rate of the kids was similar regardless of separation strategy (paper IV), most certainly a result of free access to goat milk in separated kids. However, growth varied more in daily separated kids compared to the other treatments. After the isolation test at two weeks, the daily separated kids also spent more time suckling when reunited with mother. This indicate that even if this group could compensate milk intake when together with their mothers, they were probably suffering from hunger early in lactation indicating lower welfare.

Can our results in goats be transferred to apply to dairy cows and their calves? Differences in anatomy and physiology in the mammary gland speaks against it. Goats have large cisterns and store between 50- 80% in the gland cistern compared to dairy cows that store about 20% in the cistern. (Marnet & McKusick, 2001; Salama *et al.*, 2004; Bruckmaier, 2005). The cisternal milk can easily be emptied without milk ejection and milk stored in the alveolar compartment can only be expressed into the cistern after a contraction of the myoepithelial cells (Andersson, 1951; Soloff *et al.*, 1989; Marnet & McKusick, 2001; Bruckmaier, 2005). Animals with large cisterns are able to store the milk more effectively between milkings (Marnet & McKusick, 2001) and therefore goats, in contrast to dairy cows, are less dependent on milk ejection (Peris *et al.*, 1997). In small ruminants, this is evident, since the milk flow has no correlation with oxytocin in plasma

during milking (Marnet & McKusick, 2001). Studies in goats (Olsson & Högberg, 2009) and ewes (Negrão & Marnet 2003) confirm that oxytocin levels in plasma only increase during suckling and not during milking. In dairy cows oxytocin is released both during suckling, hand- and machine milking (Gorewit *et al.* 1992; Negrão, 2008) and therefore, suckling has less positively effects on milk composition. The positive effects on growth rate has been shown in calves (Meagher *et al.*, 2019), however, to investigate if keeping cows and calves together have similar effects on calf behavior as in kids need further studies.

6.1.5 Effects of suckling in goats

In paper III, the goats stood more when they were together with their kids than after separation, probably an effect of suckling. The number of suckling bouts was on average two times per hour, which is slightly higher than the frequency found by (Högberg et al., 2016). However, this difference is probably an age effect, regarding the kids in the study by Högberg et al., (2016) were 8-11 weeks old. Suckling, was accompanied by elevated concentrations of cortisol and β -endorphin, and a small but not significant increase in blood pressure in undisturbed goats. Elevated cortisol concentrations have been reported during suckling in cows (Dunlap et al., 1981; Ellicott et al., 1981), sheep (Marnet & Negrão, 2000) and goats (Olsson & Högberg, 2009) and is probably rather a metabolic effect, although though some arousal may have occurred. In contrast to the study by Olsson & Högberg (2009), no oxytocin or vasopressin release was found in our study. A possible explanation is that we may have missed the peaks due to the short suckling bouts. In addition, the goats in this study were in early lactation, while the goats in the study by Olsson & Högberg (2009) had been lactating for several weeks. Milk composition in Paper IV was positively affected by suckling. Most likely this is an endocrine effect (oxytocin, prolactin) that affects the entire udder, since milk composition was similar in the suckled teat and the teat that was only machine milked.

6.1.6 Individual differences

The behavioural physiology approach used in this thesis emphasises that individual variation is of great significance when evaluating potentially aversive situations. This was true for both the privately owned dogs and the goats in our experimental herd. Individual variation is necessary in the natural habitat for evolutionary fitness (Koolhaas *et al.*, 2010) and is important to take into consideration in most research fields.

There were individual differences in the majority of measures. However, heart rate increased in all fear- and stressful situations in both species (I, II, V) except for acute separation in goats despite intensive vocalisations (III). At two weeks, the vocalisation rate in all kids during isolation (Paper V), followed a similar overall pattern. However, the heart rate varied between individuals, and stayed at a high level throughout the test for half of the kids, i.e. the heart rate and vocalisation rate were positively correlated, while in the other half, the heart rate and vocalisation rate were negatively correlated, i.e. heart rate decreased when vocalisation increased. The somatic and autonomic nervous system change in response to emotions, which cause tension of muscles that are used for voice production (Briefer, 2012). In humans, the impact of the autonomic nervous system on vocalisation differs between emotions and depend on which of the sympathetic and parasympathetic systems that dominate (Zei Pollermann, 2008). Hence, vocalisation is a parameter that has potential to describe the individual's experience. Possibly, registrations of valence of the kids vocalization during isolation would have been helpful to understand the different patterns of heart rate responses in the kids.

6.1.7 Gender differences

Gender may partly have affected our results. Chojnacki *et al.*, (2014) found that female offspring to goat mothers exposed to prenatal high density housing, showed a more pronounced fear response to isolation than males. In our study, the female kids showed a longer latency to sniff object than males. A long latency to approach a novel object can be indicative of a noncurious or indifferent animal rather than a fearful reaction (Forkman *et al*, 2007). However, in this case, the sudden appearance of the novel object probably elicited a surprise effect and therefore a fear reaction in all kids. This is supported by the initial flight reaction in all kids. They may all have been initially scared to the same extent, but the most curious individuals overcame their fear and approached the novel object in a shorter time than the less curious individuals. In that case, the males may have been curious to a larger extent than the females. The distribution of gender between treatments was skewed in our study as an adaptation to farming practices. Goats usually deliver twins, and few goats have enough production to suckle two kids and still have milk for human consumption. Hence, in the case of twins with different gender, the female kids was kept with their mothers as an adaptation to dairy goat farming where the female kids are most likely kept with their mothers for later recruitment to the herd. However, if very high yielding goats are used, it may be possible for the goats to suckle two kids and still produce enough milk for human consumption. In the present study, even when the dams were kept together with one kid for 24 h, some individuals yielded 3-4 kg milk daily.

6.1.8 Welfare implications

The occurrence of fearful dogs is of concern for modern society from both dogs' and humans' point of view. As already discussed, fear of gunshots puts a severe strain on fearful dogs and therefore affects their welfare. It is also likely, that fearfulness of one loud noise generalize to other loud noises (Blackwell *et al.*, 2013), and an online survey showed that more than fifty percent of the dog owners considered their dogs as fearful of fireworks (Riemer, 2019). The handling of fearful dogs places great demands on dog owners, since fearful dogs may develop aggressive behavior (King *et al.*, 2003; Rooney *et al.*, 2016). Fearfulness in dogs is one reason for dogs being handed over to dog shelters (Segurson *et al.*, 2005). Since fearfulness has been reported to be a hereditary trait in dogs (Overall *et al.*, 2008; Riemer, 2019), this should be taken into consideration in breeding.

For animals in dairy production, tied-up systems and early separation of mother and young are controversial subjects. The physiological response to tethering in the goats in this thesis clearly shows that this system, which implies restricted possibilities to perform behaviours and have social contact, had a negative impact.

In this thesis we have shown that even when the goats show minor reactions to early separation, there are effects on the kids. Kids housed with access to their mothers spent considerable time with them. Hence, it seems like kids that have the possibility to choose, they choose to be with their mothers. This most likely affects the welfare of both kids and goats. For future research and development, it is desirable to focus on housing and management systems, with special consideration of the positive effects of keeping mother and offspring together, a topical issue for dairy cattle (Ventura *et al.*, 2013; Johnsen *et al.*, 2016; Agenäs, 2017; Busch *et al.*, 2017; (Mikuš *et al.*, 2020; Placzek *et al.*, 2020).

Animal welfare is to a large extent a controversial issue, despite a consenus regarding the objectives of animal welfare: all individual animals should fare well in life. This is how Broom defined welfare in 1996. It is tempting to believe that animals living a natural life have the best welfare. But a natural life contains many things that we, as humans, do not connect to welfare, like starvation, predators, illness, and injuries. Is the elimination of those threats, in human care, worth the price? That is a hypothetical question with no answer. The results of the studies in this thesis, show how important it is to use several different measures of behaviour and physiology to be able to interpret the animals' reactions and evaluate animal welfare. The results also emphasizes the importance of considering the individual differences of the animals, both in how animals experience different situations but also in how they cope with different situations physiologically and behaviourally.



Photo: Lena Holm

7. Conclusions

The results of this thesis emphasise the importance of using a wide variety of behavioural and physiological parameters when trying to interpret animal's reactions and assessing animal welfare. It is important that evaluations of stress situations in animals don't rely on measurements of one stress hormone alone. Furthermore, it is not always behavioural reactions of fear or discomfort that are accompanied by physiological changes and vice versa. In addition, both behavioural and physiological reactions to the same stimuli may differ considerably between individuals.

The following specific conclusions can be drawn from the work presented:

- Dogs fearful of walking on different floors had higher heart rate than less fearful dogs during the floor test. Fear of gun shots is a serious stressor for dogs. Dogs fearful of gunshots showed a massive physiological response, e.g. elevated high heart rate, haematocrit and plasma concentrations of cortisol, progesterone, vasopressin and βendorphin, during the gunshot test despite different behavioural reactions.
- Dogs fearful of gunshots showed a strong physiological response that the less fearful dogs did not show. It was therefore possible to separate fearful dogs from less fearful by physiological variables.
- > Tethered goats had higher heart rate and blood pressure, but lower concentrations of β -endorphin and oxytocin than loose goats kept in pairs, indicating that tethering may be experienced as negative in goats compared to when held loose in pairs.
- In contrast to the cardiovascular response, the commonly used stress-indicators cortisol and vasopressin concentrations were not affected by tethering. This indicate that the use of single measures,

e.g., cortisol concentrations, is not sufficient to give an accurate picture of an animal's response to management systems.

- Neither suckling, nor permanent separation of goats and kids with established bonding was accompanied by cardiovascular changes.
- Suckling caused elevated plasma cortisol and β -endorphin concentrations but did not affect oxytocin or vasopressin in the goats, while permanent separation was not accompanied by endocrine changes despite intensive vocalisations, earlier suggested to indicate stress.
- Kids' growth rates were similar regardless of rearing with full-time, part-time or no contact with mother.
- It is possible to maintain milk yield with one kid present and that the milk composition is positively affected by keeping goats and kids together.
- Separated kids showed an altered behaviour, *e.g.* less hiding behaviour, than the other treatments and kids that had access to mother chose to spend considerable time with them.
- Kids permanently separated from their mothers seemed to have developed a bond to their flock mates at two months of age, and thereby adapted to live in a group with other kids, while those separated daily demonstrated the strongest stress response at this age.
- Kids separated early, separated daily, or kept full-time with their mothers showed different responses to a challenge. This demonstrates the importance of if and how the mother is present, as well as the importance of using a several physiological and behavioural measures when evaluating stress in animal welfare research.

References

- Adolphs, Ralph. 2013. 'The Biology of Fear'. *Current Biology*. 23 (2): 79–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2012.11.055.
- Agenäs, Sigrid. 2017. 'Editorial: We Need to Bring the Calves Back to the Dairy Cows. *Journal of Dairy Research* 84 (3): 239–239. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029917000346.
- Al-Qarawi, A. A., and B. H. Ali. 2005. 'Isolation Stress in Desert Sheep and Goats and the Influence of Pretreatment with Xylazine or Sodium Betaine'. *Veterinary Research Communications* 29 (1): 81–90. https://doi.org/10.1023/b:verc.0000046741.97331.29.
- Amir, Shimon, Zechariah Brown, and Zalman Amit. 1980. 'The Role of Endorphins in Stress: Evidence and Speculation'. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 4 (February): 77–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/0149- 7634(80)90027-5.
- Andersson B. 1951. Några nyare synpunkter på laktationsfysiologi. Nordisk veterinärmedicin 3, 327-341.
- Antoni, Ferenc. 2017. 'Vasopressin as a Stress Hormone'. In *Stress: Neuroendocrinology and Neurobiology*, 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-802175-0.00009-7.
- Baciadonna, L, C Nawroth, EF. Briefer, and AG. McElligott. 2019. 'Perceptual Lateralization of Vocal Stimuli in Goats'. *Current Zoology* 65 (1): 67–74. https://doi.org/10.1093/cz/zoy022.
- Barchas, JD and Berger PA. 1980. Endogenous opi-oids: Basic and clinical aspects. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin 16*: 51-52.
- Bergamasco, L., E. Macchi, C. Facello, P. Badino, R. Odore, S. Pagliasso, C. Bellino, M. C. Osella, and G. Re. 2005. 'Effects of Brief Maternal Separation in Kids on Neurohormonal and Electroencephalographic Parameters'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 93 (1): 39–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.12.002.
- Bergeron, R, SL. Scott, JP Emond, F Mercier, NJ. Cook, and AL. Schaefer. 2002.
 'Physiology and Behavior of Dogs during Air Transport'. *Canadian Journal of Veterinary Research Veterinaire* 66 (3): 211–16.
- Beurel, E, and CB. Nemeroff. 2014. 'Interaction of Stress, Corticotropin-Releasing

Factor, Arginine Vasopressin and Behaviour'. *Current Topics in Behavioral Neurosciences* 18: 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854 2014 306.

- Blackwell, EJ., J Bradshaw, and R Casey. 2013. 'Fear Responses to Noises in Domestic Dogs: Prevalence, Risk Factors and Co-Occurrence with Other Fear Related Behaviour'. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 145 (1):15– 25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2012.12.004.
- Boissy, A. 1995. 'Fear and Fearfulness in Animals'. *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 70 (2): 165–91. https://www.jstor.org/stable/3036241.
- Boissy, A, G Manteuffel, M Jensen, R Moe, B Spruijt, L Keeling, C Winckler, B Forkman, I Dimitrov, J Langbein, M Bakken, I Veissier, A Aubert. 2007. 'Assessment of Positive Emotions in Animals to Improve Their Welfare'. *Physiology & Behavior* 92 (November): 375–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.02.003.
- Boivin, X., and B. O. Braastad. 1996. 'Effects of Handling during Temporary Isolation after Early Weaning on Goat Kids' Later Response to Humans'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 48 (1): 61–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1591(95)01019-X.
- Bomfim, G. F., G. K. F. Merighe, S. A. de Oliveira, and J. A. Negrao. 2018.
 'Effect of Acute Stressors, Adrenocorticotropic Hormone Administration, and Cortisol Release on Milk Yield, the Expression of Key Genes, Proliferation, and Apoptosis in Goat Mammary Epithelial Cells'. *Journal of Dairy Science* 101 (7): 6486–96. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2017-14123.
- Botreau, R, I Veissier, and P Perny. 2009. 'Overall Assessment of Animal Welfare: Strategy Adopted in Welfare Quality®'. *Animal Welfare* 18 (November): 363–70.
- Brambell FWR, Barbour DS, Barnett MB, Ewer TK, Hobson A, Pitchforth H, Smith WR, Thorpe WH, Winship FJW. 1965. Report of the Technical Committee to Enquire into the Welfare of Animals Kept Under Intensive Husbandry Systems. Her Majesty's Stationery Office, London, United Kingdom
- Brandt, L. 2009. 'Djurhållning och hälsoproblem i svenska mjölkgetbesättningar sett ur ett ägarperspektiv. Uppsala: SLU, Institutionen för kliniska vetenskaper (KV). 5 March 2009. https://stud.epsilon.slu.se/11807/.
- Breier, A and RW. Buchanan. 1992. 'The Effects of Metabolic Stress on Plasma Progesterone in Healthy Volunteers and Schizophrenic Patients'. *Life*

Sciences 51 (19): 1527-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(92)90563-

5.

- Briefer, E. F. 2012. 'Vocal Expression of Emotions in Mammals: Mechanisms of Production and Evidence'. *Journal of Zoology* 288 (1): 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2012.00920.x.
- Broom, D. 1996. 'Animal Welfare Defined in Terms of Attempts to Cope with the Environment'. *Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica Section A Animal Science* Supplement 27 (March): 22–28.
- Bruckmaier, R. M. 2005. 'Normal and Disturbed Milk Ejection in Dairy Cows' Domestic Animal Endocrinology, Farm Animal Endocrinology Special Issue

Part 2, 29 (2): 268–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2005.02.023.

- Busch, G, DM. Weary, A Spiller, and M von Keyserlingk. 2017. 'American and German Attitudes towards Cow-Calf Separation on Dairy Farms'. *PLOS ONE* 12 (3): e0174013. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174013.
- Caldwell, HK., H-J Lee, AH Macbeth, and W S Young. 2008. 'Vasopressin: Behavioral Roles of an "Original" Neuropeptide'. *Progress in Neurobiology* 84 (1): 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pneurobio.2007.10.007.
- Campbell, I. T., R. F. Walker, D. Riad-Fahmy, D. W. Wilson, and K. Griffiths. 1982. 'Circadian Rhythms of Testosterone and Cortisol in Saliva: Effects of Activity-Phase Shifts and Continuous Daylight'. *Chronobiologia* 9 (4): 389–96.
- Cannon, W. B. 1929. *Bodily Changes in Pain, Hunger, Fear and Rage*. Oxford, England: Appleton.
- Caraffa-Braga, E., L. Granata, and O. Pinotti. 1973. 'Changes in Blood-Flow Distribution during Acute Emotional Stress in Dogs'. *Pflugers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology* 339 (3): 203–16. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00587372.
- Carbonaro, DA, TH Friend, GR. Dellmeier, and LC Nuti. 1992. 'Behavioral and Physiological Responses of Dairy Goats to Isolation'. *Physiology & Behavior* 51 (2): 297–301. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(92)90144-Q.
- Carson K. 1985. Etiology of Farm Animals. A comprehensive study of the behavioural features of the common farm animals, *Exploratory behaviour*. A.F. Fraser (Ed.) Elsevier, pp 201-207.
- Carter, CS, and M Altemus. 1997. 'Integrative Functions of Lactational Hormones
in Social Behavior and Stress Management'. In *The Integrative Neurobiology of Affiliation*, 164–74. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. New York, NY, US: New York Academy of Sciences.

- Chatdarong, Kaywalee, Ponglowhapan, Karlsson, and C Linde-Forsberg. 2006.
 'The Effect of ACTH Stimulation on Cortisol and Progesterone Concentrations in Intact and Ovariohysterectomized Domestic Cats'. *Theriogenology* 66 (6–7): 1482–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.theriogenology.2006.01.005.
- Chmelíková, E., P. Bolechová, H. Chaloupková, I. Svobodová, M. Jovičić, and M. Sedmíková. 2020. 'Salivary Cortisol as a Marker of Acute Stress in Dogs: A Review'. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 72 (July): 106428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.domaniend.2019.106428.
- Chojnacki, R, J Vas, and I Andersen. 2014. 'The Effects of Prenatal Stocking Densities on the Fear Responses and Sociality of Goat (Capra Hircus) Kids'. *PloS One* 9 (April): e94253. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0094253.
- Collias, NE. 1956. 'The Analysis of Socialization in Sheep and Goats'. *Ecology* 37 (2): 228–39. https://doi.org/10.2307/1933135.
- Cooper, C., A. C. O. Evans, S. Cook, and N. C. Rawlings. 2011. 'Cortisol, Progesterone and β-Endorphin Response to Stress in Calves'. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science*, March. https://doi.org/10.4141/cjas95-029.
- Deis, R. P., E. Leguizamon, and G. A. Jahn. 1989. 'Feedback Regulation by Progesterone of Stress-Induced Prolactin Release in Rats'. *Journal of Endocrinology* 120 (1): 37–43. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1200037.
- Delgado-Pertíñez, M., J. L. Guzmán-Guerrero, F. P. Caravaca, J. M. Castel, F. A. Ruiz, P. González-Redondo, and M. J. Alcalde. 2009. 'Effect of Artificial vs. Natural Rearing on Milk Yield, Kid Growth and Cost in Payoya Autochthonous Dairy Goats'. *Small Ruminant Research* 84 (1): 108–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2009.06.014.
- Delgado-Pertíñez, M., J. L. Guzmán-Guerrero, Y. Mena, J. M. Castel, P. González-Redondo, and F. P. Caravaca. 2009. 'Influence of Kid Rearing Systems on Milk Yield, Kid Growth and Cost of Florida Dairy Goats'. *Small Ruminant Research* 81 (2): 105–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2008.12.007.
- Dudley E S, PA Schiml, and MB Hennessy. 2015. 'Effects of Repeated Petting Sessions on Leukocyte Counts, Intestinal Parasite Prevalence, and Plasma Cortisol Concentration of Dogs Housed in a County Animal Shelter'.

Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association 247 (11): 1289–98. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.247.11.1289.

- Duncan, I J. H. 1993. 'Welfare Is to Do With What Animals Feel'. 1993. https://repository.library.georgetown.edu/handle/10822/861565.
- Dunlap, S. E., T. E. Kiser, J. J. Vallner, G. B. Rampacek, R. R. Kraeling, and L. L. Benyshek. 1981. 'Clearance of Serum Cortisol in Suckled and Nonsuckled Postpartum Beef Cows'. *Journal of Animal Science* 53 (4): 1082–87. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas1981.5341082x.
- EFSA Panel on Animal Health and Welfare (AHAW); Statement on the use of animal-based measures to assess the welfare of animals. EFSA Journal 2012;10(6):2767. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2767
- Ellicott, A. R., D. M. Henricks, T. Gimenez, and T. E. Kiser. 1981. 'Suckling Induced Cortisol Secretion in Young Beef Cows'. *Theriogenology* 16 (4): 469–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/0093-691x(81)90079-0.
- Elman, I, and A Breier. 1997. 'Effects of Acute Metabolic Stress on Plasma Progesterone and Testosterone in Male Subjects: Relationship to Pituitary-Adrenocortical Axis Activation'. *Life Sciences* 61 (17): 1705–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(97)00776-5.
- Engel, O, HW Müller, R Klee, B Francke, and DS Mills. 2019. 'Effectiveness of Imepitoin for the Control of Anxiety and Fear Associated with Noise Phobia in Dogs'. *Journal of Veterinary Internal Medicine* 33 (6): 2675– 84. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.15608.
- Erhard, H. W., and M. T. Mendl. 1999. 'Tonic Immobility and Emergence Time in Pigs - More Evidence for Behavioural Strategies'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 61: 227–37. https://pure.sruc.ac.uk/en/publications/tonic-immobility-and-emergencetime-in-pigs-more-evidence-for-beh.
- Eriksson, L., E. Hydbring, L. Tuomisto, E. MacDonald, U.-M. Kokkonen, and K. Olsson. 1994. 'Intraruminal Fluid Administration to Goats: Effects of Handling and Fluid Temperature'. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 35 (3): 289–98. https://doi.org/10.1186/BF03548334.
- Essner, A, R Sjöström, E Ahlgren, and B Lindmark. 2013. 'Validity and Reliability of Polar® RS800CX Heart Rate Monitor, Measuring Heart Rate in Dogs during Standing Position and at Trot on a Treadmill'. *Physiology & Behavior* 114–115 (March) https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2013.03.002.

Fernández, N., J. L. Palomares, I. Pérez-Baena, M. Rodríguez, and C. Peris. 2019.

[•]Effect of the Rearing System on Financial Returns from Murciano-Granadina Breed Goats'. *Animal: An International Journal of Animal Bioscience* 13 (8): 1730–35. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1751731118003336.

- Forkman, B., A. Boissy, M.-C. Meunier-Salaün, E. Canali, and R. B. Jones. 2007. 'A Critical Review of Fear Tests Used on Cattle, Pigs, Sheep, Poultry and Horses'. *Physiology & Behavior* 92 (3): 340–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2007.03.016.
- Frank, D, A Gauthier, and R Bergeron. 2006. 'Placebo-Controlled Double-Blind Clomipramine Trial for the Treatment of Anxiety or Fear in Beagles during Ground Transport'. *The Canadian Veterinary Journal* 47 (11): 1102–8. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1624927/.
- Frank, L. A., B. W. Rohrbach, E. M. Bailey, J. R. West, and J. W. Oliver. 2003. 'Steroid Hormone Concentration Profiles in Healthy Intact and Neutered Dogs before and after Cosyntropin Administration'. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 24 (1): 43–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0739-7240(02)00204-7.
- Fraser, D. 2008. 'Understanding Animal Welfare'. *Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica* 50 (1): S1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-50-S1-S1.
- Friard, O, and M Gamba. 2016. 'BORIS: A Free, Versatile Open-Source Event-Logging Software for Video/Audio Coding and Live Observations'. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7 (11): 1325–30. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12584.
- Gähwiler, S, A Bremhorst, K Tóth, and S Riemer. 2020. 'Fear Expressions of Dogs during New Year Fireworks: A Video Analysis'. *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 16035. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72841-7.
- Gorewit, R. C., K. Svennersten, W. R. Butler, and K. Uvnäs-Moberg. 1992. Endocrine Responses in Cows Milked by Hand and Machine'. *Journal of Dairy Science* 75 (2): 443–48. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(92)77780-7.
- Gray, JA. 1987. *The Psychology of Fear and Stress, 2nd Ed.* The Psychology of Fear and Stress, 2nd Ed. New York, NY, US: Cambridge University Press.
- Greenwood, P.L., and D.A. Shutt. 1990. 'Effects of Management Practices on Cortisol, β-Endorphin and Behaviour in Young Goats'. *Proc. Aust. Soc. Anim. Prod.* 18: 224–27.
- Hakanen, ES Mikkola, M Salonen, J Puurunen, S Sulkama, C Araujo, and H Lohi. 2020. 'Active and Social Life Is Associated with Lower Non-Social

Fearfulness in Pet Dogs'. *Scientific Reports* 10 (1): 13774. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-70722-7.

- Hawkes, C H. 1992. 'Endorphins: The Basis of Pleasure?' Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery, and Psychiatry 55 (4): 247–50. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC489033/.
- Hennessy, M, M Williams, D Miller, C Douglas, and V Voith. 1998. 'Influence of Male and Female Petters on Plasma Cortisol and Behaviour: Can Human Interaction Reduce the Stress of Dogs in a Public Animal Shelter?' *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* - 61 (December): 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(98)00179-8.
- Herbel, J, J Aurich, C Gautier, M Melchert, and C Aurich. 2020. 'Stress Response of Beagle Dogs to Repeated Short-Distance Road Transport'. Animals: An Open Access Journal from MDPI 10 (11). https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10112114.
- Herrera, AY, SE. Nielsen, and M Mather. 2016. 'Stress-Induced Increases in Progesterone and Cortisol in Naturally Cycling Women'. *Neurobiology of Stress* 3 (June): 96–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.02.006.
- Högberg, M, Olsson, K and Dahlborn, K. (2014). Can vasopressin induce milk ejection in the dairy goat? *Small ruminant research* 121, 111-115
- Högberg, M., K. Dahlborn, E. Hydbring-Sandberg, E. Hartmann, and A. Andrén. 2016. 'Milk Processing Quality of Suckled/Milked Goats: Effects of Milk Accumulation Interval and Milking Regime'. *Journal of Dairy Research* 83 (2): 173–79. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029916000157.
- Houpt, K. A. 2004. 'Behavioral Physiology.' Dukes' Physiology of Domestic Animals, no. Ed.12: 952–61. https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/20043175303.
- Hydbring, Cvek, and Olsson. 1999. 'Telemetric Registration of Heart Rate and Blood Pressure in the Same Unrestrained Goats during Pregnancy, Lactation and the Non-Pregnant, Non-Lactating Period'. Acta physiologica Scandinavica 165 (2): 135–41. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201x.1999.00498.x.
- Hydbring, E., E. Macdonald, and K. Olsson. 1997. 'Radiotelemetrically Recorded Blood Pressure and Heart Rate Changes in Relation to Plasma Catecholamine Levels during Parturition in the Conscious, Unrestrained Goat'. Acta Physiologica Scandinavica 161 (3): 295–302. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-201X.1997.00223.x.

- Hydbring Sandberg, E, Andrzej M, E MacDonald, G Drugge-Boholm, and K Olsson. 1999. 'Hormonal Changes during Parturition in Heifers and Goats Related to the Phases and Severity of Labour'. *The Journal of Endocrinology* 160 (February): 75–85. https://doi.org/10.1677/joe.0.1600075.
- Insel, T.R., and Larry Young. 2001. 'The Neurobiology of Attachment'. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2 (January): 129–36.
- Johnsen, J Føske, K A. Zipp, T Kälber, AM de Passillé, U Knierim, K Barth, and CM Mejdell. 2016. 'Is Rearing Calves with the Dam a Feasible Option for Dairy Farms?—Current and Future Research'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 181 (August): 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2015.11.011.
- Jordbruksverket. 2019. Krav på att hålla djur lösgående konsekvenser, övergångsbestämmelser, undantag och andra incitament än lagstiftning Rapport 2019:17 <u>(regeringen.se)</u>
- Kannan, G, T Terrill, B Kouakou, O Gazal, S Gelaye, E Amoah, and S Samaké. 2000. 'Transportation of Goats: Effects on Physiological Stress Responses and Live Weight Loss'. *Journal of Animal Science* 78 (June): 1450–57. https://doi.org/10.2527/2000.7861450x.
- Kannan, G, T Terrill, B Kouakou, S Gelaye, and E Amoah. 2002. 'Simulated Pre Slaughter Holding and Isolation Effect on Stress Responses and Livemass Shrinkage in Meat Goats'. *Journal of Animal Science* 80 (July): 1771–80. https://doi.org/10.2527/2002.8071771x.
- Kasting, N. W. 1988. 'Simultaneous and Independent Release of Vasopressin and Oxytocin in the Rat'. *Canadian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology* 66 (1): 22–26. https://doi.org/10.1139/y88-004.
- Katzenberger, K, E Rauch, M Erhard, S Reese, and M Gauly. 2020. 'Evaluating the Need for an Animal Welfare Assurance Programme in South Tyrolean Dairy Farming'. *Italian Journal of Animal Science* 19 (1): 1147–57. https://doi.org/10.1080/1828051X.2020.1823897.
- Kendrick, KM. 2004. 'The Neurobiology of Social Bonds'. Journal of Neuroendocrinology 16 (12): 1007–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2826.2004.01262.x.
- King, T, P. H Hemsworth, and G. J Coleman. 2003. 'Fear of Novel and Startling Stimuli in Domestic Dogs'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 82 (1): 45–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1591(03)00040-6.
- Klopfer, P. H. 1971. 'Mother Love: What Turns It On?' Amer Sci.

https://agris.fao.org/agris-search/search.do?recordID=US201301126507.

- Koolhaas, J. M., S. F. de Boer, C. M. Coppens, and B. Buwalda. 2010.
 'Neuroendocrinology of Coping Styles: Towards Understanding the Biology of Individual Variation'. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 31 (3): 307–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2010.04.001.
- Koolhaas, J. M., S. M. Korte, S. F. De Boer, B. J. Van Der Vegt, C. G. Van Reenen, H. Hopster, I. C. De Jong, M. A. Ruis, and H. J. Blokhuis. 1999.
 'Coping Styles in Animals: Current Status in Behavior and Stress-Physiology'. *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* 23 (7): 925–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0149-7634(99)00026-3.
- Lee, M., and S. L. Wardlaw. 2007. 'Beta-Endorphin*'. In *Encyclopedia of Stress* (*Second Edition*), edited by George Fink, 332–35. New York: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012373947-6.00055-6.
- Lickliter, RE. 1984a. 'Hiding Behavior in Domestic Goat Kids'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 12 (3): 245–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-591(84)90117-5.
- Lickliter, R.E. 1984b. Mother-infant spatial relationships in domestic goats. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 13, 93-100.
- Lickliter, R.E. 1987. Activity Patterns and Companion Preferences of Domestic Goat Kids. *Applied Animal Behaviour* 19, 137-145.
- Lidfors, LM. 1996. 'Behavioural Effects of Separating the Dairy Calf Immediately or 4 Days Post-Partum'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 49 (3): 269– 83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1591(96)01053-2.
- Lim, Miranda M., and Larry J. Young. 2006. 'Neuropeptidergic Regulation of Affiliative Behavior and Social Bonding in Animals'. *Hormones and Behavior* 50 (4): 506–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2006.06.028.
- Lloyd, J. 2017. 'Minimising Stress for Patients in the Veterinary Hospital: Why It Is Important and What Can Be Done about It'. *Veterinary Sciences* 4 (2): 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/vetsci4020022.
- Lu, C. D., and M. J. Potchoiba. 1988. 'Milk Feeding and Weaning of Goat Kids A Review'. *Small Ruminant Research* 1 (2): 105–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/0921-4488(88)90025-9.
- Malinowski, K., E. J. Shock, P. Rochelle, C. F. Kearns, P. D. Guirnalda, and K. H. McKeever. 2006. 'Plasma β-Endorphin, Cortisol and Immune Responses to Acute Exercise Are Altered by Age and Exercise Training in Horses'. *Equine Veterinary Journal* 38 (S36): 267–73. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-3306.2006.tb05551.x.

- Mandal, DK, Mandal A, Bhakat, C, Dutta, TK. 2021. Effect of heat stress amelioration through open-ridge ventilation thatched roof housing on production and reproduction performance of crossbred Jersey cows. *Trop Anim Health Prod* 53, 144
- Manteuffel, G, B Puppe, and P C. Schön. 2004. 'Vocalization of Farm Animals as a Measure of Welfare'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 88 (1–2): 163–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2004.02.012.
- Marnet, Pierre, and B.C. McKusick. 2001. 'Regulation of Milk Ejection and Milkability in Small Ruminants'. *Livestock Science*, July, 125–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00205-6.
- Marnet, P-G, and JA Negrão. 2000. 'The Effect of a Mixed-Management System on the Release of Oxytocin, Prolactin, and Cortisol in Ewes during Suckling and Machine Milking'. *Reproduction Nutrition Development* 40 (3): 271–81. https://doi.org/10.1051/rnd:2000131.
- Meagher, RK. 2009. Observer ratings: Validity and value as a tool for animal welfare research. Applied Animal Behavioural Science 119(1):1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2009.02.026
- Meagher, RK., A Beaver, DM. Weary, and M von Keyserlingk. 2019. 'Invited Review: A Systematic Review of the Effects of Prolonged Cow–Calf Contact on Behavior, Welfare, and Productivity'. *Journal of Dairy Science* 102 (7): 5765–83. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-16021.
- Mellor, DJ., NJ. Beausoleil, KE. Littlewood, AN. McLean, Paul D. McGreevy, B Jones, and C Wilkins. 2020. 'The 2020 Five Domains Model: Including Human–Animal Interactions in Assessments of Animal Welfare'. Animals 10 (10): 1870. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101870.
- Mikuš, T, R Marzel, and O Mikuš. 2020. 'Early Weaning: New Insights on an Ever-Persistent Problem in the Dairy Industry'. *Journal of Dairy Research* 87 (S1): 88–92. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029920000503.
- Miranda-de la Lama, G, and S Mattiello. 2010. 'The Importance of Social Behaviour for Goat Welfare in Livestock Farming'. *Small Ruminant Research* 90 (May): 1–10.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smallrumres.2010.01.006.
- Mwanza, A. M., A. Madej, H. Kindahl, N. Lundeheim, and S. Einarsson. 2000.
 'Plasma Levels of Cortisol, Progesterone, Oestradiol-17 Beta and Prostaglandin F2 Alpha Metabolite after ACTH (Synacthen Depot) Administration in Ovariectomized Gilts'. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine*. *A, Physiology, Pathology, Clinical Medicine* 47 (4): 193–200.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0442.2000.tb00275.x.

- Negrão, J. A. 2008. 'Hormone Release and Behavior during Suckling and Milking in Gir × Holstein, and Holstein Cows1,2'. *Journal of Animal Science* 86 (suppl_13): 21–26. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2007-0304.
- Negrão, J. A., and P. -G. Marnet. 2003. 'Cortisol, Adrenalin, Noradrenalin and Oxytocin Release and Milk Yield during First Milkings in Primiparous Ewes'. Small Ruminant Research 47 (1): 69–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-4488(02)00247-X.
- Newberry, Ruth C., and Janice C. Swanson. 2008. 'Implications of Breaking Mother–Young Social Bonds'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, Early Weaning, 110 (1): 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.021.
- O'Brien, H. 1984. 'Leavers and Stayers: Maternal Post-Partum Strategies in Feral Goats'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 12 (3): 233–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/0168-1591(84)90116-3.
- O'Brien, PH. 1988. Feral goat social organization: A Review and Comparative Analysis. Appl. Anim. Behav. Sci. 21, 209-221. doi:10.1016/0168-1591(88)90110-4
- O'Callaghan, K A, P J Cripps, D Y Downham, and R D Murray. 2003. 'Subjective and Objective Assessment of Pain and Discomfort Due to Lameness in Dairy Cattle'. *Animal Welfare* 12 (4): 605–10.
- OIE. 2019. ©OIE-*Terrestrial Animal Health Code*. Access online: OIE - World Organisation for Animal Health
- Olsson, K., M. Josäter-Hermelin, J. Hossaini-Hilali, E. Hydbring, and K. Dahlborn. 1995. 'Heat Stress Causes Excessive Drinking in Fed and Food Deprived Pregnant Goats'. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Physiology* 110 (4): 309–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0300-9629(94)00186-W.
- Olsson, K, and M Högberg. 2009. 'Plasma Vasopressin and Oxytocin Concentrations Increase Simultaneously during Suckling in Goats'. *The Journal of Dairy Research* 76 (1): 15–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029908003658.
- Olweus, D, Å Mattsson, D Schalling, and H Löw. 1988. 'Circulating Testosterone Levels and Aggression in Adolescent Males: A Causal Analysis'. *Psychosomatic Medicine* 50 (3): 261–72. https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-198805000-00004.
- Overall, KL., DJ. Dyer, AE. Dunham, L Schechter, and SP. Hamilton. 2008. 'Update on the Canine Behavioral Genetics Project (CBGP): Progress in

Understanding Heritable Fears and Anxieties'. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior* 3 (4): 184–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2008.01.003.

- Panksepp, J. 1998. Affective Neuroscience: The Foundations of Human and Animal Emotions. Affective Neuroscience: The Foundations of Human and Animal Emotions. New York, NY, US: Oxford University Press.
- Peris S, Caja G, Such X, Casals R, Ferret A and Torre C. 1997. Influence on kid rearing systems on milk composition and yield of Murciano-Granadina dairy goat, Journal of Dairy Science 80, 3249-3255.
- Placzek, M., I. Christoph-Schulz, and K. Barth. 2020. 'Public Attitude towards Cow-Calf Separation and Other Common Practices of Calf Rearing in Dairy Farming—a Review'. Organic Agriculture, July. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13165-020-00321-3.
- Poindron, P, G Gilling, H Hernandez, N Serafin, and A Terrazas. 2003. 'Early Recognition of Newborn Goat Kids by Their Mother: I. Nonolfactory Discrimination'. *Developmental Psychobiology* 43 (2): 82–89. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.10123.
- Poindron, P, F Lévy, and M Keller. 2007. 'Maternal Responsiveness and Maternal Selectivity in Domestic Sheep and Goats: The Two Facets of Maternal Attachment'. *Developmental Psychobiology* 49 (1): 54–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.20192.
- Poindron, P, A Terrazas, M de la Luz Navarro Montes de Oca, N Serafín, and H Hernández. 2007. 'Sensory and Physiological Determinants of Maternal Behavior in the Goat (Capra Hircus)'. *Hormones and Behavior* 52 (1): 99– 105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2007.03.023.
- Poulsen, A, A Lisle, and C Phillips. 2010. 'An Evaluation of a Behaviour Assessment to Determine the Suitability of Shelter Dogs for Rehoming'. *Veterinary Medicine International* 2010 (February): 523781. https://doi.org/10.4061/2010/523781.
- Price, EO., and J. Thos. 1980. 'Behavioral Responses to Short-Term Social Isolation in Sheep and Goats'. *Applied Animal Ethology* 6 (4): 331–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3762(80)90133-9.
- Probst, F, J Golle, V Lory, and JS. Lobmaier. 2018. 'Reactive Aggression Tracks Within-Participant Changes in Women's Salivary Testosterone'. *Aggressive Behavior* 44 (4): 362–71. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21757.
- Rajala-Schultz PJ, Gott PN, Proudfoot KL, Schuenemann GM. Effect of milk cessation method at dry-off on behavioral activity of dairy cows. J Dairy Sci. 2018 Apr;101(4):3261-3270. doi: 10.3168/jds.2017-13588. Epub

2018 Feb 7. PMID: 29428750.

- Ralph, C. R., and A. J. Tilbrook. 2016. 'Invited review: The Usefulness of Measuring Glucocorticoids for Assessing Animal Welfare'. *Journal of Animal Science* 94 (2): 457–70. https://doi.org/10.2527/jas.2015-9645.
- Reeve, E. B., M. I. Gregersen, T. H. Allen, and H. Sear. 1953. 'Distribution of Cells and Plasma in the Normal and Splenectomized Dog and Its Influence on Blood Volume Estimates With P32 and T-1824'. American Journal of Physiology-Legacy Content 175 (2): 195–203. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplegacy.1953.175.2.195.
- Riemer, S. 2019. 'Not a One-Way Road-Severity, Progression and Prevention of Firework Fears in Dogs'. *PloS One* 14 (9): e0218150. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0218150.
- Righi, C, L Menchetti, R Orlandi, L Moscati, S Mancini, and S Diverio. 2019.
 'Welfare Assessment in Shelter Dogs by Using Physiological and Immunological Parameters'. *Animals: An Open Access Journal from MDPI* 9 (6). https://doi.org/10.3390/ani9060340.
- Romeo, RD., SJ. Lee, and BS. McEwen. 2004. 'Differential Stress Reactivity in Intact and Ovariectomized Prepubertal and Adult Female Rats'. *Neuroendocrinology* 80 (6): 387–93. https://doi.org/10.1159/000084203.
- Romeyer, A, P Poindron, and P Orgeur. 1994. 'Olfaction Mediates the Establishment of Selective Bonding in Goats'. *Physiology & Behavior* 56 (4): 693–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/0031-9384(94)90229-1.
- Roelofs K. Freeze for action: neurobiological mechanisms in animal and human freezing. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2017 Apr 19;372(1718):20160206. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2016.0206. PMID: 28242739; PMCID: PMC5332864.
- Rooney, NJ., C Clark, and R Casey. 2016. 'Minimizing Fear and Anxiety in working Dogs: A Review'. *Journal of Veterinary Behavior* 16 (November): 53–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jveb.2016.11.001.
- Rossi, A, FJ. Parada, R Stewart, C Barwell, G Demas, and C Allen. 2018. 'Hormonal Correlates of Exploratory and Play-Soliciting Behavior in Domestic Dogs'. *Frontiers in Psychology* 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01559.
- Roussel, S., A. Boissy, D. Montigny, P. H. Hemsworth, and C. Duvaux-Ponter. 2005. 'Gender-Specific Effects of Prenatal Stress on Emotional Reactivity and Stress Physiology of Goat Kids'. *Hormones and Behavior* 47 (3): 256–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2004.09.010.

Ruiz-Miranda, C R, MD. Szymanski, and JW.

Ingals. 1993. 'Physical Characteristics of the Vocalizations of Domestic Goat Does Capra Hircus in Response to Their Offspring's Cries'. *Bioacoustics* 5 (1–2): 99–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/09524622.1993.9753232.

- Salama, A. a. K., G. Caja, X. Such, S. Peris, A. Sorensen, and C. H. Knight. 2004. 'Changes in Cisternal Udder Compartment Induced by Milking Interval in Dairy Goats Milked Once or Twice Daily'. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87 (5): 1181–87. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)73267-1.
- Schaeffer, C., and Cl Aron. 1987. 'Stress-Related Effects on the Secretion of Progesterone by the Adrenals in Castrated Male Rats Presented to Stimulus Males. Involvement of Oestrogen'. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 114 (3): 440–45. https://doi.org/10.1530/acta.0.1140440.
- Segurson, SA., JA. Serpell, and BL. Hart. 2005. 'Evaluation of a Behavioral Assessment Questionnaire for Use in the Characterization of Behavioral Problems of Dogs Relinquished to Animal Shelters'. *Journal of the American Veterinary Medical Association* 227 (11): 1755–61. https://doi.org/10.2460/javma.2005.227.1755.
- Sforzo, G. A. 1989. 'Opioids and Exercise'. *Sports Medicine* 7 (2): 109–24. https://doi.org/10.2165/00007256-198907020-00003.
- Sherman, BL., and DS. Mills. 2008. 'Canine Anxieties and Phobias: An Update on Separation Anxiety and Noise Aversions'. *The Veterinary Clinics of North America. Small Animal Practice* 38 (5): 1081–1106, vii. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2008.04.012.
- Shiverdecker, MD., PA. Schiml, and MB. Hennessy. 2013. Human Interaction Moderates Plasma Cortisol and Behavioral Responses of Dogs to Shelter Housing. *Physiology & Behavior* 109 (January): 75– 79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2012.12.002.
- Siebert, K, J Langbein, P-C Schön, A Tuchscherer, and B Puppe. 2011. 'Degree of Social Isolation Affects Behavioural and Vocal Response Patterns in Dwarf Goats (Capra Hircus)'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 131 (April). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2011.01.003.
- Simpson, K. 2001. 'The Role of Testosterone in Aggression'. *McGill J Med* 6 (January). https://doi.org/10.26443/mjm.v6i1.559.
- Sjaastad O, Sand O and Hove K 2016 Physiology of Domestic Animals. Scandinavian Veterinary Press Third edition, Oslo, Norway.
- Smith, M E. 2006. 'CHAPTER 184 POMC Opioid Peptides'. In Handbook of

Biologically Active Peptides, edited by Abba J. Kastin, 1325–31. Burlington: Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012369442-3/50187-2.

- Soloff, M. S., M. A. Fernström, and M. J. Fernström. 1989. 'Vasopressin and Oxytocin Receptors on Plasma Membranes from Rat Mammary Gland. Demonstration of Vasopressin Receptors by Stimulation of Inositol Phosphate Formation, and Oxytocin Receptors by Binding of a Specific 125I-Labeled Oxytocin Antagonist, d(CH2)5(1)[Tyr(Me)2, Thr4,Tyr-NH2(9)]OVT'. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 67 (2–3): 152–62. https://doi.org/10.1139/o89-023.
- Sprouse-Blum, AS, G Smith, D Sugai, and F Don Parsa. 2010. 'Understanding Endorphins and Their Importance in Pain Management'. *Hawaii Medical Journal* 69 (3): 70–71.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3104618/.

- Stěhulová, Ilona, Lena Lidfors, and Marek Špinka. 2008. 'Response of Dairy Cows and Calves to Early Separation: Effect of Calf Age and Visual and Auditory Contact after Separation'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science*, 110 (1): 144–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2007.03.028.
- Steimer, T. 2002. 'The Biology of Fear- and Anxiety-Related Behaviors'. Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience 4 (3): 231–49. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3181681/.
- Stribley, JM., and C. Carter. 1999. 'Developmental Exposure to Vasopressin Increases Aggression in Adult Prairie Voles'. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 96 (22): 12601–4. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.22.12601.
- Tharwat, M., F. Al-Sobayil, and S. Buczinski. 2014. 'Influence of Racing on the Serum Concentrations of Acute-Phase Proteins and Bone Metabolism Biomarkers in Racing Greyhounds'. *The Veterinary Journal* 202 (2): 372–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvj1.2014.08.027.
- Uvnäs-Moberg, K. 1998. 'Oxytocin may mediate the benefits of positive social interaction and emotions'. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 23 (8): 819–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4530(98)00056-0.
- Veissier, I., and A. Boissy. 2007. 'Stress and Welfare: Two Complementary Concepts That Are Intrinsically Related to the Animal's Point of View'. *Physiology & Behavior* 92 (3): 429–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2006.11.008.
- Veissier, I, A Butterworth, B Bock, and E Roe. 2008. 'European Approaches to

Ensure Good Animal Welfare'. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 113 (4): 279–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.applanim.2008.01.008.

- Ventura, B. A., M. A. G. von Keyserlingk, C. A. Schuppli, and D. M. Weary. 2013. 'Views on Contentious Practices in Dairy Farming: The Case of Early Cow-Calf Separation'. *Journal of Dairy Science* 96 (9): 6105–16. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2012-6040.
- Vieira de Castro, A Catarina, D Fuchs, G Munhoz Morello, S Pastur, L de Sousa, and A Olsson. 2020. 'Does Training Method Matter? Evidence for the Negative Impact of Aversive-Based Methods on Companion Dog Welfare'. *PloS One* 15 (12): e0225023. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225023.
- Wade, CE. 1984. 'Response, Regulation, and Actions of Vasopressin during Exercise: A Review'. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise* 16 (5): 506–11. https://doi.org/10.1249/00005768-198410000-00015.
- Weary D, and B Chua. 2000. 'Effects of Early Separation on the Dairy Cow and Calf. 1. Separation at 6 h, 1 Day and 4 Days after Birth'. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 69 (3): 177–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-1591(00)00128-3.
- Wells D and P Hepper. 2000. 'Prevalence of Behaviour Problems Reported by Owners of Dogs Purchased from an Animal Rescue Shelter'. Applied Animal Behaviour Science 69 (1): 55–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-1591(00)00118-0.
- Williams, T, AJ Kind, W Hyde, and D Hill. 2000. 'Characterization of Urinary Metabolites of Testosterone, Methyltestosterone, Mibolerone and Boldenone in Greyhound Dogs'. *Journal of Veterinary Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 23 (July): 121–29. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2885.2000.00267.x.
- Winblad von Walter, L, L Lidfors, A Madej, K Dahlborn, and E Hydbring-Sandberg. 2010. 'Cardiovascular, Endocrine and Behavioural Responses to Suckling and Permanent Separation in Goats'. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 52 (1): 51. https://doi.org/10.1186/1751-0147-52-51.
- Wirth, MM., EA. Meier, BL. Fredrickson, and OC. Schultheiss. 2007. Relationship between Salivary Cortisol and Progesterone Levels in Humans. *Biological Psychology* 74 (1): 104–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsycho.2006.06.007.
- Yoshida, C, and T Nakao. 2005. 'Response of Plasma Cortisol and Progesterone after ACTH Challenge in Ovariectomized Lactating Dairy Cows'. *The*

Journal of Reproduction and Development 51 (1): 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1262/jrd.51.99.

- Zei Pollerman, B. 2008. Autonomic determinants of vocal expression of emotions. In Emotions in the human voice: 1-16. Izdebski, K (Ed). San Diego, CA: Plural Publishing.
- Zobel, G, HW. Neave, and J Webster. 2019. 'Understanding Natural Behavior to Improve Dairy Goat (Capra Hircus) Management Systems'. *Translational Animal Science* 3 (1): 212–24. https://doi.org/10.1093/tas/txy145.

Popular science summary

Animal welfare is a topical issue in today's society, engaging pet owners, consumers and citizens as well as food producers. Animal welfare is at present even more relevant than when the first studies in this thesis were done 20 years ago. During this time period, a vast number of research projects have been published on different animal species, which has contributed to an increased understanding of what affects animal welfare, which has made possible improvements in the care and housing of livestock. Despite this, many important questions remain. What animals really experience and feel can be difficult to know. However, by studying a wide array of different physiological and behavioural changes in the same individual, it is may be possible to evaluate the animal's experiences of different situations. Different individuals may experience the same situation in different ways, which may lead to diverse physiological and behavioural reactions. The type of stress response shown in different individuals and situations may differ, as may the relation between behaviour and physiology. Increased knowledge about how physiology and behaviour interact is therefore important to better interpret the animals' experiences and thereby improve their welfare.

Both the involuntary nervous system, i.e. the autonomic nervous system, and the hormonal system are controlled by the hypothalamus. The hypothalamus is an area in the brain that is superior to both the autonomic nervous system and the pituitary gland, which is a hormone-producing gland, releasing several different hormones that in turn affect other hormoneproducing organs. The pituitary gland affects, among other things, the adrenal cortex to release the hormone cortisol (hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal cortex axis). In addition, the sex hormones testosterone and progesterone can be released via the adrenal cortex. The hypothalamus also produces the hormones oxytocin and vasopressin, which are transported to the posterior lobe of the pituitary gland from which they are released. Oxytocin is a hormone that is released in connection with parturition and milk let-down, but also in connection with physical contact and is sometimes called the feel-good hormone. Vasopressin is a water-saving hormone, that at higher concentrations also act to elevate blood pressure. The pituitary gland can also release the hormone β -endorphin, which acts as the body's own morphine and is important in pain relief, but which also can be released during stress. The autonomic nervous system is divided into the sympathetic and the parasympathetic nervous system. The sympathetic nervous system (fight, flight and fright system), generally increases the body's performance by, among other things, raising blood pressure and heart rate and stimulating the release of the hormones adrenaline and noradrenaline from the adrenal medulla. In some species, the sympathetic nervous system also stimulates the release of red blood cells from the spleen, i.e. increases the haematocrit. The parasympathetic nervous system, also called the rest and digest system, is most active at rest, decrease heart rate and stimulates digestion.

Fear is a natural and necessary part of life, intended to protect the individual from harmful situations by triggering certain behaviours such as avoidance or defensive behaviours, and activate physiological stress reactions such as the sympathetic nervous system and the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal cortex. However, recurring, strong fears may put both physical and mental strain on the animal and adversely affect its welfare. Fear can be expressed in different ways, and there are both active and passive strategies for dealing with fear. Through escape behaviour, the animals can flee from a threat. However, animals that are afraid can also react by "freezing" behaviour, i.e. being completely immobile. The behavioural reactions are adapted to different situations, making it possible for the animal to cope with the situation. The individual may also change strategy if it turns out that the first strategy is not appropriate. The overall goal of this dissertation was to study the physiology and behaviour of fear and discomfort in dogs and goats and to investigate the physiological and behavioural changes in the situations included in the thesis.

In the first study, fearfulness of floors and gun shots in dogs of the Collie breed was studied. In some dog breeds, it is common for individuals to be afraid of, or even refuse to walk on, different types of floors. This can imply major problems not only for the dogs, but also for the dog owners. Fear of gun shots is another type of fear, that causes a lot of suffering for the dogs and also is very problematic for the dog's owner. Fear of gun shots is also difficult to train as this fear is often very strong, and even tends to become worse over time. The results from the first study showed that dogs fearful of floors subjected to a floor-test, and dogs fearful of gun shots that were subjected to a gun shot test, had an elevated heart rate compared to dogs that were less fearful. In addition, the dogs fearful of gun shots had higher levels of red blood cells (haematocrit) in the blood, as well as higher levels of the hormones cortisol, progesterone, vasopressin and β -endorphin after the gun shot test compared to dogs that were not fearful of gun shots. There was no difference in the hormone levels in the fearful/non-fearful dogs in the floortest however. The dogs fearful of gun shots, reacted differently to the gun shot test in terms of behaviour. Some dogs fled, while others were paralyzed and stood completely still, but in all fearful dogs the physiological variables increased to a large extent. The study showed that it is possible to detect fear with physiological variables, while it can be difficult to assess fearfulness from solely behavioural observations.

In dairy production, certain management routines and housing systems are questioned, such as early separation of mother and young as well as tethering of animals. Goat and goat kids establish strong bonds early after parturition. Goats are considered as hiders, e.g. the first hours after birth, the goat leaves the kid lying hidden. However, the length of the hiding period varies from days to weeks between different goat populations. In intensive dairy goat production, goats and kids are often separated early. In more extensive systems, it is more common that goat and kids are separated during daytime, while the goats graze, and are kept together during the nights. However, little is known about how these different routines affects the development of various characteristics, such as fearfulness. Strong fears can negatively affect the production in milk-producing animals. When goats and kids are separated, the possibility to reunite increases if they actively search for each other and bleat to find each other.

In the second study, we examined how goats are affected by being tied up compared to loose housed in a pen together with another goat. In tethered goats, blood pressure and heart rate increased, while the levels of the hormones β -endorphin and oxytocin were lower compared to loose housed goats. This indicates that the tied-up goats up experienced the situation as stressful. However, the hormones cortisol and vasopressin were not affected by the different housing systems, once again emphasizing the importance of measuring several physiological variables when evaluating animal welfare.

In the third study, we studied the effects of goat kids suckling their mother and how goats react to early separation from their kids. When the kids suckled, the hormones cortisol and β-endorphin increased, but the heart rate was not affected. No physiological changes were seen in the goats when they were separated from their kids, but both goats and kids vocalised intensively. The goats did not seem to be adversely affected by the separation, even though they had spent enough time with their kids to have developed a strong bond. This could be explained by the natural hiding behaviour in goats, which implies that both goats and kids are adapted to be separated in periods.

In the fourth and fifth studies, the goat kids' reactions to separation from mother were examined further. The kids were kept in three groups; together with the mother, together with the mother at night but without the mother during the day, respectively separated from the mother but together with other kids. For two months, the kids' growth was measured, as well as milk yield in the goats and whether the composition of the milk differed between the groups. We also examined whether there were differences in the kids' behaviour depended on whether they were kept with or without their mother. To investigate whether the systems affected the kids' reactions in stressful situations, we performed tests at two weeks and two months of age. In these tests, the kids were isolated from their mothers respectively the other kids, and in an unknown environment for a short period. Kids' growth was similar regardless of system, but the kids' behaviour was affected. The kids kept fulltime with mother stayed hidden more than the others, while the kids that were completely separated from the mother and kept in a group with only other kids, spent more time with other kids when they were active. The reactions to the tests were very individual. However, at two weeks of age, the kids that were separated from the mother vocalised less than the other kids, but had a higher heart rate at both two weeks and two months of age. The kids that were separated daily from their mothers, vocalised more and showed the strongest behavioural reactions when they were two months old.

The results of the studies in this dissertation, show how important it is to use several different measures of behaviour and physiology to be able to interpret the animals' reactions and evaluate animal welfare. The behaviour of the animals and the physiological changes don't always follow each other as expected. It emphasizes the importance of considering the individual differences of the animals, both in how animals experience different situations but also in how they cope with different situations physiologically and behaviourally.



Photo: Lena Holm

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Djurs välfärd engagerar många människor i dagens samhälle, exempelvis djurägare, konsumenter och livsmedelsproducenter. Djurvälfärd är idag om möjligt ännu mer aktuellt än när de första studierna i denna avhandling gjordes för 20 år sedan. Under denna tidsperiod har mycket forskning utförts på olika djurslag vilket har bidragit till ökad förståelse för djurs upplevelser och ökad generell kunskap vilket bland annat resulterat i förbättringar i skötsel och inhysning av livsmedelsproducerande djur. Trots detta återstår många viktiga frågor. Vad djur verkligen upplever och känner kan vara svårt att veta. Genom att studera flera olika fysiologiska och beteendemässiga förändringar hos samma individ går det ofta att utvärdera djurets upplevelser av olika situationer. Olika individer kan uppleva samma situation på olika sätt vilket kan leda till olika fysiologiska och beteendemässiga reaktioner. Det är inte alltid som dessa följer varandra och därför krävs det ökad kunskap om hur fysiologi och beteende samverkar för att bättre kunna tolka djurens upplevelser och därmed kunna förbättra deras välfärd.

Både det icke viljestyrda nervsystemet, d.v.s det autonoma nervsystemet, och det hormonella systemet styrs av hypotalamus. Hypotalamus är ett område i hjärnan som är överordnat både det autonoma nervsystemet och hypofysen som är en hormonproducerande körtel som frisätter flera olika hormoner som i sin tur påverkar andra hormonproducerande organ. Hypofysen påverkar bland annat binjurebarken att frisätta hormonet kortisol (hypotalamus-hypofys-binjurebarksaxeln). Även könshormonerna testosteron och progesteron kan frisättas via binjurebarken. Hypotalamus bildar också hormonerna oxytocin och vasopressin som transporteras ner till hypofysens baklob där de frisätts. Oxytocin är ett hormon som frisätts i samband med förlossning och mjölknedsläpp, men också vid beröring och kallas ibland för må-bra hormonet. Vasopressin är ett vattensparande hormon som vid högre koncentrationer även verkar blodtryckshöjande. Hypofysen kan även frisätta hormonet β -endorfin som fungerar som kroppens eget morfin och är viktigt vid smärtlindring men som även kan frisättas vid stress. Det autonoma nervsystemet delas in i det sympatiska och det parasympatiska nervsystemet. Det sympatiska nervsystemet (fight flight fright systemet), ökar generellt kroppens prestationsförmåga genom att bland annat höja blodtryck och hjärtfrekvens och stimulera frisättningen av hormonerna adrenalin och noradrenalin från binjuremärgen. Hos vissa djurslag stimulerar dessutom det sympatiska nervsystemet frisättning av röda blodkroppar från mjälten. Det parasympatiska nervsystemet, även kallat lugn och ro-systemet, är mest aktivt vid vila, sänker hjärtfrekvensen och stimulerar matspjälkningen.

Rädsla är en naturlig och nödvändig del av livet, avsedd att skydda individen mot skadliga situationer genom att utlösa vissa beteenden som t.ex. undvikande försvarsbeteenden eller samt aktivera fysiologiska stressreaktioner såsom det sympatiska nervsystemet och hypotalamushypofys-binjurebarksaxeln. Dock kan återkommande, stark rädsla innebära både fysisk och psykisk påfrestning för djuret och påverka dess välfärd negativt. Rädsla kan uttryckas på många olika sätt, och det finns både aktiva och passiva strategier för att hantera rädsla. Genom flyktbeteende kan djuren komma undan ett hot, men djur som är rädda kan också reagera med att "frysa", alltså vara helt orörliga. Olika beteenden är anpassade för att djuren ska kunna hantera situationen och individen kan också byta strategi om det visar sig att den första strategin inte är lämplig. Det övergripande målet med den här avhandlingen var att studera fysiologi och beteende vid rädsla och obehag hos hund och get samt studera vilka olika fysiologiska och beteendemässiga förändringar detta ger i de olika studerade situationerna.

I den första studien studerades golv- och skotträdsla hos rasen collie. Inom vissa hundraser är det vanligt att individer är rädda för, eller till och med vägrar att gå på olika typer av golv. Detta kan skapa stora problem inte bara för hunden utan även för hundägaren. Skotträdsla är en annan typ av rädsla som orsakar stort lidande för hundarna och även blir ytterst problematiskt för hundarnas ägare. Skotträdsla är också svårt att träna bort då rädslan ofta är mycket stark och snarare tenderar att förvärras med tiden. Resultaten från den första studien visade att golvrädda hundar som passerade olika typer av golv och skotträdda hundar som utsattes för ett skottprov hade högre hjärtfrekvens jämfört med hundar som inte var rädda. De skotträdda hundarna hade också högre nivåer av röda blodkroppar (hematokrit) i blodet samt högre nivåer av hormonerna kortisol, progesteron, vasopressin och β - endorfin efter skottprovet jämfört med hundar som inte var skotträdda. De skotträdda hundarna reagerade dock olika beteendemässigt på skotten. Vissa hundar flydde medan andra blev paralyserade och stod alldeles stilla men hos samtliga ökade de fysiologiska variablerna kraftigt. Studien visade att det är möjligt att detektera rädsla med fysiologiska variabler medan det kan vara svårt att se på hundarnas beteende hur rädda de verkligen var.

Inom mjölkproduktionen finns rutiner och inhysningssystem som är ifrågasatta, till exempel tidig separation av mor och unge samt uppbundna djur. Get och killing etablerar starka band tidigt efter förlossningen. De första timmarna efter födseln lämnar geten sin killing som ligger gömd. Hur länge gömningsbeteendet kvarstår varierar dock från dagar till veckor mellan olika getpopulationer. I intensiv mjölkproduktion separeras ofta get och killing tidigt. I mer extensiva system är det vanligt att get och killing separeras under dagtid så att getterna får beta för att sen vara tillsammans nattetid. Lite är dock känt hur det påverkar utvecklingen av olika egenskaper som t.ex. rädslor. Starka rädslor kan påverka produktionen negativt hos mjölkproducerande djur. Om get och killing separeras ökar möjligheten att de återförenas om de aktivt söker efter varandra och bräker för att hitta varandra.

I den andra studien undersökte vi hur getter påverkas av att vara uppbundna jämfört med lösgående i sällskap med en annan get. När getterna var uppbundna ökade blodtryck och hjärtfrekvens medan nivåerna av hormonerna β -endorfin och oxytocin var lägre jämfört med när de var lösgående. Detta tyder på att getterna när de var uppbundna upplevde situationen som påfrestande. Hormonerna kortisol och vasopressin påverkades inte av de olika inhysningssystemen vilket visar vikten av att mäta flera fysiologiska variabler vid utvärdering av djurs välfärd.

I den tredje studien studerade vi effekter av att killingen diar sin mamma samt hur getter reagerar på tidig separation från sin killing. När killingarna diade ökade både hormonet kortisol och ß-endorfin, medan hjärtfrekvensen inte påverkades. Inga fysiologiska förändringar sågs hos getterna när de separerades från sina killingar, men både getter och killingar bräkte intensivt. Getterna verkade inte påverkas negativt av separationen trots att de tillbringat tillräckligt med tid med sin killing för att ha utvecklat ett starkt band. Detta skulle kunna förklaras av att getter är gömmare, det vill säga att killingarna gömmer sig under en tid efter förlossningen, vilket skulle kunna innebära att både get och killing är anpassade till att vara separerade i perioder.

I den fjärde och femte studien undersöktes killingarnas reaktioner på separation från mamman. Killingarna hölls i tre grupper; tillsammans med mamman, tillsammans med mamman på natten men utan mamman på dagen, respektive separerad från mamman men tillsammans med andra killingar. Under två månader mättes killingarnas tillväxt, hur mycket mjölk getterna producerade och om mjölkens sammansättning skiljde sig åt mellan de olika grupperna. Vi undersökte också om det var skillnader i killingarnas beteende beroende på om de hölls med eller utan mamma. För att undersöka om systemen påverkade killingarnas reaktioner i påfrestande situationer gjorde vi tester vid två veckors och två månaders ålder som innebar att killingarna fick vara isolerade från sina mammor respektive de andra killingarna och i en okänd miljö under en kort period. Alla killingar växte lika mycket oavsett system, men killingarnas beteende påverkades. De killingar som hölls tillsammans med mamman dygnet runt låg gömda mer än de andra, medan de killingar som var helt separerade från mamman och hölls i en grupp med killingar tillbringade mer tid med andra killingar när de var aktiva. Reaktionerna på testerna var mycket individuella. Vid två veckors ålder bräkte killingarna som var separerade från mamman mindre än de övriga killingarna, men de hade högre hjärtfrekvens både vid två veckors och två månaders ålder. De killingar som separerades dagligen från sin mamma bräkte mer och visade de kraftigaste beteendereaktionerna när de var två månader gamla.

Resultaten av studierna i denna avhandling visar hur viktigt det är att använda flera olika mått på beteende och fysiologi för att kunna tolka djurens reaktioner och utvärdera djurvälfärd. Det är inte alltid som djurens beteende och de fysiologiska förändringarna följer varandra som man kanske förväntar sig. Det är också mycket viktigt att ta hänsyn till att det kan finnas stora individuella skillnader, både i hur djur upplever olika situationer men också i hur de hanterar olika situationer fysiologiskt och beteendemässigt.

Acknowledgements

The studies included in this thesis were conducted at Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU). Financial support was provided by the Scientific Council for Medicine, the Swedish Medical Research Council, the Swedish Council for Agricultural and Forestry Research and the Swedish Farmers Foundation for Agricultural Research.

The former heads of the department, Göran Björnhag, Stig Drevemo, Lena Holm, and the present head of the department Carl-Gustaf Thulin, are gratefully acknowledged for their support and for supplying the facilites at the Department.

It's been a long journey, and this thesis would never have been completed without the support and encouragement from many people. From the bottom of my heart, I want to thank every one of you!

Mina handledare är något alldeles extra. Tänk att ni trodde på mig hela vägen. Jag vill från djupet av mitt hjärta tacka:

Kristina Dahlborn, huvudhandledare. Tack för din aldrig sinande entusiasm, för dina falkögon som aldrig missar en detalj, för att du har modet att bli lite förbannad när det behövs och peppa när det behövs. Tack för att du alltid hittar en väg fram och för att du har gjort långt mer än vad någon kan begära.

Eva Hydbring-Sandberg, biträdande handledare och kär vän. Det finns inga ord som kan uttrycka hur tacksam jag är över allt. Tack för din entusiasm i alla år, för att du aldrig givit upp, för att du peppat, stöttat, tålmodigt svarat

på frågor, läst texter och funderat över resultat. Tack för att du så generöst delat med dig av ditt stora kunnande inom fysiologin. Tack för alla idéer som landade i det här projektet! På köpet har jag också fått en fin vän. Jag är så glad över att ha fått lära känna dig och för att du trott på mig i alla år. Tänk så roligt vi har haft, både med jobb och fritid, vad många försöksdagar, hundpromenader och hundträningar vi har delat. Under de här åren har vi gått från hundnördar till småbarnsföräldrar till tonårsföräldrar. Livet hände, och jag hade aldrig klarat detta utan dig. Tack!

Biträdande handledare **Björn Forkman**, tack för att ville ta dig an handledarskapet, för givande samtal om välfärd och beteende, för att du så generöst bidragit med dina kunskaper om allt från beteende till statistik. Tack också för pepp och för att du också behöll tron på mig och projektet!

Biträdande handledare **Madeleine Högberg**, tack för alla roliga, härliga timmar med getterna och för att du så generöst delar med dig av din unika kunskap om getter och deras mjölk. Tack för alla underbara berättelser om getterna och grisarna, och tack för att du funnits där och kämpat på i både med-och motgångar.

Tidigare huvudhandledare **Kerstin Olsson**, för att du gav mig möjligheten att starta denna långa resa. Tack för att jag fick chansen att jobba i gethallen och lära känna dessa fina djur.

Fördelen med att hålla på länge är förstås att lära känna många fina människor. Till er alla vill jag rikta ett hjärtligt och varmt tack:

Medförfattare till hundstudien, **Kenth Svartberg, Lennart Swenson** och **Katja Höglund.** Stort tack för att ni ville göra studien tillsammans med mig. Vilket engagemang och vilket kunnande! Det är tack vare er som det var möjligt att genomföra studien. Roligt hade vi på köpet, både i mörka källarkorridorer och i ljusa hagar.

Medförfattare **Lena Lidfors**, tack för att du välkomnade mig så varmt till Skara och för all hjälp med beteendeanalyser.

Medförfattare **Andrzej Madej**, tack för all hjälp med statistikens förunderliga värld.

Lena Holm, tack för de vackra fotona till framsidan! Vill också tacka för att du gav mig chansen att komma igen och för att du trott på mig hela vägen.

Gunilla Drugge, tack för att du så tålmodigt och med stor kunskap guidat mig i arbetet på laboratoriet och för alla analyser du utfört. Tack också för alla härliga hundpromenader i trevlig samvaro.

Åsa Eriksson och Inger Lind, tack för att ni tog hand om getterna så väl! Tack för ovärderlig hjälp med allt från att bygga boxar till att stå gömd i en buske och skjuta pistol och tack för alla härliga timmar i gethallen.

Sören Johansson för att du alltid varit så hjälpsam även när saker gått sönder i sista minuten.

Tack all tidigare och nuvarande **personal på institutionen** för trevliga stunder och för att ni fick mig att känna mig välkommen.

Thank you **Zach Maher** at Space 360, **Sue Pajuluoma** and **Richard Hopkins** for excellent advice concerning the English language.

Svenska Collieklubben, tack för all hjälp med att rekrytera hussar och mattar med sina fina hundar till studien.

Bettan, Kennel Springmist, tack för att du gav mig den finaste collien av alla och för att du tror stenhårt på rasen.

Tack till alla **hundägare, hundar** och **getter** som var med i våra studier. Utan er hade det inte ens blivit en tummetott.

Jag vill också varmt och hjärligt tacka **Andrea Holmström**, min chef på Djurhälsa utveckling, **Växa Sverige** som gav mig möjligheten att jobba med avhandlingen. Tack för peppning, jag plockade fram min norska sisu.

Mina fina, underbara, härliga **kollegor** på **Djurhälsa Utveckling**, tack för att ni gör det roligt att jobba varje dag. Alla glada tillrop och peppning har varit helt ovärderliga. Ett alldeles särskilt tack till **Frida** för akututryckningar när jag hispar över att hästar får sår eller feber.

Livet har varit lite tufft ett tag. Jag är så tacksam och glad över alla fina vänner som funnits där, frågat, stöttat, lyssnat och hjälpt till. Alldeles särskilt vill jag tacka:

Hjärngänget **Sanna, Eva, Åsa och Hanna**. Tack för att ni gjorde studietiden så rolig och för att vi fortfarande är vänner. Tack för att ni berikar livet! Vi har förökat oss ganska bra de här åren, från 5 till 25. Längtar till nästa ridläger! Tack för att ni finns.

Charlotte, min kära vän som inspirerade mig både till livet med häst och till att ta upp studierna. Det tog sin tid, men tänk att det blev en avhandling av det. Tack för din vänskap i så många år!

Mina underbara vänner, Sjöbergsmammorna **Alexandra, Cissi och Saara.** Tänk att våra killar hann bli vuxna innan avhandlingen blev klar. Tack för att ni finns och för att ni tror på de goda krafterna i livet!

Tack alla andra **Sjöbergsvänner, Nina, Maria, Kitty, Ulrika, Erika och alla** som jag lärt känna under mina år i Sjöberg. Det blev ju ett abrupt slut på den tiden, men ni ska veta att hur mycket jag uppskattar er.

Nettan, Erik, Alva och Ludde, tack för alla timmar vi hängt hos er och alla Sofias upplevelser med er och hästarna. Längtar efter att hänga med er och hästarna.

Fina **Lotta**, vad skulle jag ha gjort utan dig? Många av mina bästa stunder hade jag på Mossen. Tack för din vänskap och ditt otroliga engagemang, och tack för att du ser potentialen hos alla, även de som fungerar annorlunda.

Inte kunde jag ana att min fina barndomsvän **Annika** inte skulle finnas här längre när jag skriver detta. Älskade vän, jag saknar dig.

Håkan, jag är så tacksam att jag fått lära känna dig. Tack för fina samtal och för att du stöttat och lyssnat. Tack för att jag får lyssna på dig, det värmer så när jag tänker på hur lycklig Annika var med dig.

Vad vore jag utan min brokiga familj. Ni fanns för mig när allt var upp och ner, utan er hade jag inte stått upp idag. Nu står jag upp tack vare er!

Tack Jocke, min bonusbror med familj för er positiva syn på livet.

Tack bonussyskon **Maria** och **Johan** med familjer för att ni finns. Maria, hoppas vi får ses i Thailand snart igen.

Marianne, min älskade syster med din fina familj. Tack för att du är du, för att du finns, för att du tror på mig och finns där både i livets glada och tuffa stunder!

Pappa och **Kersti**, tack för att ni alltid har stöttat konstiga idéer, för att ni skämmer bort mig och barnen på den lilla ön i söder, för att ni verkligen fanns där när jag behövde det som mest, och för att ni alltid trott på att jag skulle fixa det.

Tommy, tack för att du finns där, tack för all hjälp med allt från att bygga en grind eller en vägg till en kopp te när det behövs som mest. Tack för peppning och tack för att du är du.

Mamma, älskade mamma. Tack för att du är du, för att du alltid finns där, för att du alltid orkar lyssna, stötta och hitta vägar framåt. Tack för att du står stark när det blåser hårt, för att du alltid i alla lägen tror på mig och hjälper mig att hitta kraften.

Hampus, Frida, Sofia och Fabian, min vinstlott i livet. Det tog lite tid att bli klar med avhandlingen. Hampus, kolla på fotot i Figur 4, där ligger du i min mage. Älskar er för alltid, ni är bara bäst!

ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

DOCTORAL THESIS NO. 2021:16

This thesis investigate physiological and behavioural parameters to evaluate fear and discomfort in dogs and goats. The results show that fear of gunshots is a serious stressor, tethering of goats affects physiological parameters, early separation of goat and kid cause intensive vocalisation, and rearing with or without mother affect goat kids behavioural and physiological reaction to isolation. In conclusion, it is important to measure several different physiological and behavioural parameters when assessing animal welfare.

Louise Winblad von Walter received her postgraduate education at the Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Biochemistry, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Uppsala. She obtained her Master of Animal Science degree at SLU.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae presents doctoral theses from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

SLU generates knowledge for the sustainable use of biological natural resources. Research, education, extension, as well as environmental monitoring and assessment are used to achieve this goal.

Online publication of thesis summary: http://pub.epsilon.slu.se/

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-710-6 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-711-3